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Financial Highlights o o
O O

N :

For the year ended October 31, 2002 2003 2004

Operating Data:

(in thousands, except per share data)

Net sales 172,112 S 176,453 S 215,744
Operating income 22,400 23,205 32,6199
Interest expense 2,248 1,189 1,090
Interest and other income 97 93 26
Life insurance proceeds — — 5,000®
Gain on sale of product line 1,230@ —_ —
Net income 152269 § 12,222 § 20,6300
\TVeighted average number of common shares
outstanding:
Basic 23,004 23,237 24,037
Diluted 24,733 24,531 25,755
Per Share Data: @
Net Income:
Basic 66® S .53 S 8606
Diluted 620 .50 800G
Cash dividends .045 .045 .050
Balance Sheet Data (as of October 31):
Total assets 336,332 § 333,244 § 364,255
Total debt (including current portion) 55,986 32,013 18,129
Minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries 38,313 40,577 44,644
Shareholders’ equity 207,064 221,518 247,402

Notes to Financial Highlights (in thousands, except per share data)

(1) Information has been adjusted retroactively to give effect to a 10% stock dividend paid in shares of Class A Common Stock in January 2004.

(2) Represents an increase in the gain on sale of the Trilectron product line of $1,230 ($765, or $.03 per basic and diluted share, net of tax) resulting from the

elimination of certain réserves upon expiration of indemnification provisions of the sale.

(3) Includes the recovery of a portion of taxes paid in prior years resulting from an income tax audit, which increased net income by $2.107, or $.09 per basic and )
diluted share, net of related expenses. The aggregate increase in net income from the gain on sale of a product line (see Note 2 above) and the recovery of

taxes was $2,872, or $.12 per basic and diluted share.

(4) Operating income was!reduced by an aggregate of $850 in restructuring expenses, which decreased net income by $427, or $.02 per basic and diluted share.
Operating income was also reduced by an aggregate of $410 of legal and other costs related to litigation, which decreased net income by $257, or $.01 per

basic and diluted share.

(5) Represents proceeds from a $5,000 key-person life insurance policy. The minority interest's share of this income totaled $1,000, which is reported as a
component of minorityiinterests’ share of income. Accordingly, the (ife insurance proceeds increased net income by $4,000, or $.17 per basic and $.16 per

diluted share.
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President’s Message

Dear Fellow Shareholder:

Eiseal 2004 was a very successful year

I_‘ for HEICO. HEICO reported record
revenue of $215.7 million, a 22% increase
above the $176.5 million reported in fiscal
2003 and our'net income increased 69%

to $20.6 million, or $.80 per diluted share,
from $12.2 million, or $.50 per diluted share,
reported in fiscal 2003.! HEICO’s cash flow
from operating activities increased 53% to
$44.1 million from $28.9 million in fiscal
2003.2 This cash flow equaled 214% of the
Company's net income.

Our results affirm HEICO’s strategies
in the commercial aviation, defense and
space markets. These strategies, which
revolve around constant new product
development, production efficiencies and
strategic acquisitions, have helped HEICO

achieve more than 25% compound annual

growth in sales since 1995. Our Company
has a healthy mix of sales divided between
commercial aviation (63% of sales), defense
and space (24% of sales) and other markets
(13% of sales). _

We believe we are well-positioned to
deliver strong results and growth over the
long term with the healthy base of product
and market diversity we created.

Following this message is a Question
and Answer section where [ answer some
frequently posed questions about HEICO.

I encourage you to read this section.

On a sad note, Charles (“Chuck”) Eddy,
the founder and President of our Future
Aviation, Inc. subsidiary, passed away sud-
denly in May 2004. Chuck was a visionary
in our industry and a good friend; he will be
sorely missed.

I must also thank every HEICO Team
Member for his and her support and dili-
gent efforts on HEICO’s behalf. I thank our
Board of Directors for their ongoing guid-
ance and support. A special thanks goes to
HEICO’s shareholders for your friendship
and loyalty.

Sincerely,

Laurans A. Mendelson
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

January 24, 2005

' Net income for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2004 included $4.0 million proceeds (net of the minority interest's share of
the income) received in the third quarter from a key-person life insurance policy maintained by a subsidiary of the Company's

Flight Support Group.

? Including $5.0 million from the life insurance proceeds in fiscal 2004.




Questions & Answers

©@: What kind of year was 2004 for HEICO?

s Very good. Much of the foundation which we
laid in the prior two years resulted in strong financial
and qualitative performance. HEICO reported record
revenues, as well as large increases in its eamings
and cash flow.

©: Did product development efforts
continue in 20047

f¢ Yes, in fact they increased. We remained stead-
fast to our principle of constant product and service
development in all of our businesses.

@z Will product development efforts increase in
20057

£¢ Absolutely, HEICO will witness increased
product development efforts in fiscal 2008, as the
historical results we have achieved with our efforts
have been very strong.

©@: What is HEICO's acquisition plan?

A: We plan to continue to make acquisitions of
businesses or product lines when they are available
upon reasonable terms to HEICO. We maintain a
very active acquisition search program and are
always looking at potential purchases. In fiscal
2004, we completed the acquisition of 80% of
the business and assets of Sierra Microwave
Technologies, a leading producer of certain niche
components used primarily in satellites, and, in
December 2004, we completed the acquisition of
the business and assets of Connectronics Corp.
and its Wiremax, LLC affiliate. Connectronics and
Wiremax are leading producers of niche intercon-
nection and high voltage wire products used
primarily in defense applications.

@ Did the Flight Support Group enter into any
new Strategic Partnerships with airlines last year?

£ Yes, our Flight Support Group entered into its
sixth Strategic Partnership with a major commercial
airline when Japan Airlines ("JAL") signed its
Strategic Partnership with the Company setting
forth extensive cooperation on parts development
as well as exclusive purchase by JAL of a variety of
HEICO's commercial aircraft parts. These Strategic
Partnerships are critical to helping airlines control
their operating costs and have been very successful
for both HEICO and its partners. We currently

have such relationships with American Airlines,

Air Canada, Delta Air Lines, Lufthansa and

United Airlines.

©@% How has HEICO addressed changes in
corporate governance?

/s We believe we have always been at the leading
edge of corporate governance practices. Our
management and directors have invested signifi-
cantly in the Company, so our financial security

is directly tied to HEICO's. Before it was required
by law, HEICO's board maintained a completely
independent audit committee which selected the
Company’s independent auditors. We have had

a majority “independent” board of directors, and
we even strengthened it this past year by adding
Joseph W. Pallot, a prominent corporate lawyer, to
the board to increase the number of "independent”
directors so that approximately 2/3 of our board is
classified “independent.”

©@: What is HEICO's outlook?

As Based upon conditions as of today, we see a
continued strengthening in our markets and our
business in fiscal 2005 and beyond. We believe
that our product development efforts will carry the
Company long term and that we are well positioned
to continue saving our customers significant

sums in our commercial aviation businesses. Our
Electronic Technologies Group produces important
niche products in a variety of growing markets and
we believe these niche products will continue to
witness increased demand.




HEICO'’s factory new, FAA-approved /}i,cft

replacement parts, such as the seal shown
above utilized in a jet engine, are recoghized

world-wide for their quality and reliability.

In 2004, Japan Airlines became
HEICO’s Flight Support Group’s 6th
airline partner for product development

and exclusive purchasing of certain




A REICO Flight
Support Group
manufacturing Team
Member processes an
aircraft part on a new
laser cutting system.
HEICO continually
invests in state-of-

the-art equipment.

Setting the standard for quality

while delivering growth.

AMR Corp., the parent of . )
American Airlines, is a part owner

of a HEICO subsidiary dedicated ©
to developing aircraft parts

applicable to American's fleet.

EICO’s commitment to quality
M above all else resonates throughout
the Company. From the inception of a
new product in the engineering phase,
through manufacturing and delivery to
our customers, HEICO employs advanced
and rigorous processes designed to yield
exemplary results. Our customers have
learned of our quality approach first hand
and have come to rely upon HEICO to
rhean Quality, Service and Dependability.
Team Members know well that every
action they take builds the HEICO name.

HEICO’s Flight Support Group
ships more than 2 million FAA-approved
commercial aircraft replacement parts
each vear to customers around the globe.
These parts were developed through an
exacting engineering process undertaken
by Company engineers. After development,
the parts were produced by our
manufacturing Team Members according
to demanding tolerances and strict quality
control standards. Qur processes are
continually evaluated for improvement
so that we can ensure we remain on the

leading edge of what we do.



By using technology, talented engineering

and state-of-the-art equipment, HEICO;‘ Flight

Support Group has become an impog;fént factor in

helping airlines control their mainténance costs.

An engineer in the New Product Development
Team at the Flight Support Group determines
the material composition and structure of a

commercial jet engine part.




Flight Support

Group engineers have
developed sophisticated
equipment for the repair
and testing of critical

aircralt systems.

Constant product development
solves our customers’ problems.
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principal tenet of HEICO'’s strategy is
Ato constantly develop new products
and services to meet our customers’ needs.
Both our Electronic Technologies Group
and our Flight Support Group maintain
substantial product development programs
and budgets, as we know that we must not
only maintain our existing product lines,
but we must grow in order to continue
customer loyalty. In addition, success in

selling new products allows us to reinvest -

in our operations in order to deliver
superior returns to our shareholders.
Many companies believe that the route
to greatness is having a small number of
products which don’t require updating
and which can be repeatedly sold to their
customers. HEICO believes the contrary
and is convinced that customers will look
elsewhere unless we constantly bring them
new products, services and solutions. That
is why we insist on significant product

development spending.



HEICO'’s Electronic Technologies Group produces
a wide array of critical niche proﬁjz:ts‘, such as

the Electro-Magnetic Radio Frequ

Shielding for circuit boards shown ab

HEICO’s high-reliability microwave
components are found in numerous
spacecraft including military and

communications satellites.




The Electronic
Technologies Group's
products are found
on numerous jet
fighter aircraft for
applications ranging
from target selection
to helmet-mounted,

heads-up displays.

HEICO lives in markets
overlooked by others.

large part of our success is derived
A from our focus on markets which are
deemed too small by others. We recognize
the value inherent in solving problems
for our customers. By developing cost
effective products and services which meet
specific needs articulated to us by current
and prospective customers, HEICO can
fulfill needs which other companies
overlook. This attitude and commitment
to customer needs renders HEICO the
“go to” choice for many customers in a

wide range of markets,

Examples of HEICO’s ability to
answer customer needs include our
aircraft replacement parts which reduce
our customers’ operating expenses,
microwave devices in satellites which
reduce weight, cost and increase output,
infrared testing, calibration and simulation
equipment which allows targeting system
development in laboratories instead of
costly launch testing, laser rangefinder
receivers which allows superior measuring,
interconnection devices which provide for

hermetic sealing and many other items.




The Electronic Technologies Group’s niche products

§

include a patented line of laser rangefinder
receivers used primarily in military applications.
Placement ig such critical functions is a testament

to our engineering, quality and production skills.

A manufacturing Team Member at the Electronic
Technologies Group utilizes the Company’s Surface
Mount Technology automated pick-and-place
equipment to produce circuit boards used in the

Company'’s aircraft products.




A Team Member

at the Electronic
Technologies Group's
Santa Barbara, CA
facility perfects a
military infrared

simulation system.

Technology leads the way. o
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echnology is a big part of almost

IWJ—‘_‘everything we do. We utilize technology

in our product development efforts

to break new boundaries and reduce

development time. Whether using

advanced software or equiprhent, such as

Scanning Electron Microscopes, HEICO

provides its Team Members with advanced

tools to provide customer solutions.

Our manufacturing Team Members are

supplied with the same level of advanced

production equipment in order to maintain
superior capabilities and cost efficient
production environments.

The result of our technology
consumption is technology production.
Our products and services are typically
advanced applications which are higher
technology, if not the highest technology,
for their specific markets. This is an
important hallmark by which HEICO

must be known to its customers.
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HEICC CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES O o

Selected VFinan_c'ia'I Data’ - o , o o o
®] O
For the year ended October 31,0 * " ©.2000 . 2001 .- 2002 2003 . 2004

. (vin thousands, eﬁ(cept'per éhare_ data)
~ Operating Data: . : S ‘ ' L : : -
~Net sales - ‘ L T§202909 - § 171,259 0§ 172112, § 176453  § 215,744

Gross profit oo . | 75811 - 71,146 61,502 58,104 - 75,812
Selling, general and administrative expenses . - 37,888 40, 155 5 39,102 34,899 43,193
Operating income _ , 37,923 . 30,991 22,400 23,205 32,6190
- Interest expensé T . . , oo 5611 2,486 2,248 1,189 - 1,090
Interest and other income , ' 929 1,598 97 .93 26
Life insurance proceeds — - = —_ 5,0009
Gain on'sale of product line . 17,2969 = 1,230© L = —

Income (loss):

From continuing operations o 277399 15833 15,2260 12222 20,630
From gain on sale of discontinued operatlons S (14220 - S p— — —

Net income : ‘ $ 263179 8§ 15,833 § 152260 -§ 12,222 $  20,6300®
Weighted average number of common shares : '
outstanding: @ . v S :
Basic . e 21,026 21,917 .0 23,004 23,237 . 24,037
Diluted ) - o ©o24,099 24,536 24,733 24,531 25,755

Per Share Data: @
Income from contlnumg operatlons ' o . v Lo :
Basic. o S8 13e 8 72 8 . 6608 53§ - 860®

Diluted . ‘ B s 1125 6 620 50 . .800®
Net income: . o e ‘ '

Basit? . o . 1.250 72 666 53 860®
~ Diluted R ' S 1099, 65 620 50 800®
Cash dividends ‘ _ 039 04 - 045 045 050

Bélance Sheet Data (as of October 31): . . ' : ‘ . L
Total assets . Y S 281,732 . § 325640 $. 336,332 S 333,244 S 364,255

Total debt (including current portion) 40,042 67,014 . 55986 32,013 18,129
Minority interests in consohdated subsidiaries 33,351 . 36,845 38,313 40,577 44,644
'Shareholders equity ' . . 169,844 188,769 207,064 ‘ 221,518 247,402

Notes to Selected Financial Data (in thousands except per share data)

{1) Results include the results of acquisitions and disposition of & product line from each respéctive effective date.

(2) information has been adjusted retroactively to glve effect to 10% stock dividends paid in shares of Class A Common Stock in July 2000, August 2001 and "
-January 2004,

(3) Represents the pretax gain on the sale of Tnlectron Industries, Inc. (Trllectron) a product fine sold in September 2000 The gain on sale of Tnlectron increased
income from continuing operations and net income in fiscal 2000 by $10,542, or $.50 per basic share and $.44 per diluted share, net of tax.

(4 Represents an adjustment to the gain from sale of discontinued health care gperations (3.07 per Basic share and $.06 per diluted share, net of tax) that were
sold in fiscal 19986..

(5) Represents an increase in the gain on sale ‘of the Trilectron product line of $1,230 ($765, or $.03 per basic and diluted share, net of tax) resulting from the
elimination of certain reserves upon expiration of indemnification provisions of the sale.

(6)Includes the recovery of a portion of taxes paid in prior years resulting from an income tax audit, which mcreased net income by $2,107, or $.09 per basic and
diluted share, net of related expenses. The aggregate increase in net income from the gain on sale of a product line (see Note 5 above) and the recovery of
taxes was $2,872, or $.12 per basic and diluted share.

(7) Operating income was reduced by an aggregate of $850 in restructuring expenses recorded by certain subsidiaries of the Flight Support Group that provide
repair and overhaul services including $350 recorded in cost of sales and $500 recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses. The restructuring
expenses decreased net income by $427, or $.02 per basic and diluted share. Operating income was also reduced by an aggregate of $410 of tegal and other
costs refated to litigation brought by a subsidiary of the Electronic Technologies Group. The litigation-related expenses decreased net lncome by $257, or
$.01 per basic and diluted share.

(8) Represents proceeds from a $5,000 key-person fife insurance policy maintained by a subsidiary of the Flight Support Group. The minority interest’s share of
this income totaled $1,000, which is reported as a component of mlnonty interests’ share of income. Accordingly. the life insurance proceeds increased net
income by S4 000, or $.17 per basxc and $.16 per diluted share. ) . . ﬁ




DARIES C O
Management's Discussion and Analysis of , A © °
Financial Condition and Results of Operations - o o o
[ : : ,
Overview

The Company’s operatlons are comprised of two operatmg segments, the thht Support Group (FSG) and the
- Electronic Technologies Group ETG).

The Flight Support Group consists of HEICO Aerospace Holdings Corp (HEICO Aerospace) and its subsrdlanes
which primarily:

o Manufactures Jet Engine and Aircraft Component Replacement Parts. The Flight Support Group designs and manufac-
tures jet engine and aircraft component replacement parts for sale at lower prices than those manufactured by original
equipment manufacturers. The parts are approved by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and they are the
functional equivalent of parts sold by original equipment manufacturers. The Flight Support Group also manufactures
“and sells specialty parts as a subcontractor for original equipment manufacturers and the United States government

. Repazrs and Overhaul Jet Engme and Azrcraﬁ Components. The Flight Support Group repairs and overhauls jet engine
and aircraft components for domestic and foreign commercial air carriers, military aJrcraft operators and aircraft
repalr and overhaul companies. :

~ The Electromc Technologies Group consists of HEICO Electronic Technologles Corp. HEICO Electromc) and its
subsidiaries, which primarily: ‘ .

* Manufactures Electronic and Electro-Optzcal Equipment. The Electronic Technologies Group des1gns manufactures
and sells various types of electronic, microwave and electro-optical equipment and components, including power
supplies laser rangefinder receivers, infra-red simulation, calibration and testing equipment and electromagnetic
“interference shielding for commercial and military aircraft operators electronics companies and telecommunications
equipment suppliers.

® Repairs and Overhaul Aircraft Electronic Equipment. The Electronic Technolog1es Group repairs and overhauls
inertial navigation systems and other avionics, 1nstruments and components for commercial, mllltary and business
aircraft operators.

The Company’s results of operatlons durmg each of the past three fiscal years have been affected by a number of

* transactions. This discussion of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction
with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included herein. For further information regarding the acqui- -
" sitions and strategic alliances discussed below, see Note 2, Acquisitions and Strategic Alliances, of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements. The acquisitions have been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and are included
in the Company’s results of operations from the effective dates of acquisition. -

During fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2003, the Company acquired Jetseal Inc. and Niacc Technology, Inc,, respectwely The
purchase price of each acquisition was paid primarily by using proceeds from the Company’s revolving credit facility and
was not significant to the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Had the fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2003 acquisitions been
‘made at the beginning of their respective fiscal years, the pro forma consohdated operating results would not have been
materially different from the reported results. :

In December 2003, the Company acquired an 80% interest in Sierra Microwave Technology, Inc. (S1erra) through
the Electronic Technologies Group. Under the transaction, the Company formed a new subsidiary, Sierra Microwave
Technology, LLC (Sierra LLC), which acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Sierra. The -
new subsidiary is owned 80% by the .Company and 20% by certain members of Sierra’s management group. The purchase
price was paid prmc1pally in cash using proceeds from the Company’s revolving credit facility and with shares of the )
Company’s Class A Common Stock. The purchase price of the acquisition was not significant to the Company’s consolidated

~ financial statements and the pro forma consolidated operating results assuming Sierra had been acquired as of the beginning of
fiscal 2004 would not have been materially different from the reported results. However, the operating results of Sierra LLC
have had a positive ‘irnpact on the Electronic Technologies Group, the smaller of the Company’s two operating segments, as
further explained below under the caption “Comparison of Fiscal 2004 to Fiscal 2003”.

In October 1997, the Company entered into a strategic alliance with Lufthansa Technik AG, the technical services sub-

sidiary of Lufthansa German Airlines, whereby Lufthansa Technik invested approximately 826 million in HEICO Aerospace,
“including $10 million paid at closing pursuant to a stock purchase agreement and approximately $16 million paid to HEICO
Aerospace pursuant to a research and development cooperation agreement, which has partially funded the accelerated
development of additional FAA-approved replacement parts for jet engines and aircraft components. The funds received as a
result of the research and development cooperation agreement reduced research and development expenses in the periods
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such expenses were incurred. In addition, Lufthansa Technik and HEICO Aerospace have agreed to cooperate regarding
technical services and marketing support for jet engine and aircraft component replacement parts on a worldwide basis. In
connection with subsequent acquisitions by HEICO Aerospace, Lufthansa Technik invested additional amounts aggregatmg
to approximately $21 million pursuant to its option to maintain a 20% equity interest. ’

In March 2001, the Company entered into a joint venture with American Airlines’ parent company, AMR Corporation;

- to develop, design and sell FAA-approved jet engine and aircraft component replacement parts through HEICO Aerospace.
As part of the joint venture, AMR Corporation reimburses HEICO Aerospace a portion of new product research and develop-
ment costs. The funds received as a result of the new product research and development costs paid by AMR Corporation
generally reduce new product research and development expenses in the period such expenses-are incurred. The balance
of the development costs are incurred by the joint venture, which is 16% owned by 'AMR Corporation. In addition, AMR
Corporahon and HEICO Aerospace have agreed to cooperate regarding technical services and marketing support on a
worldwide basis.

Critical Accounting Policies

The Company believes that the following are its most critical accounting pohc1es some of Wthh require management
to make Judgrnents about matters that are inherently uncertain.

Revenue Recogmtzon

Revenue is recognized on an accrual ba51s prunanly upon the shipment of products and the rendermg of services.
Revenue from certain fixed price contracts for which costs can be dependably estimated is recognized on the percentage-of-
completion method, measured by the percentage of costs incurred to date to estimated total costs for each contract. Variations
in actual labor performance, changes to estimated profitability and final contract settlements may result in revisions to cost
estimates. Revisions in cost estimates as contracts progress have the effect of increasing or decreasing profits in the period of

~ revision. For fixed price contracts in which costs cannot be dependably estimated, revenue is recognized on the completed-
contract method. A contract is considered complete when all costs except insignificant items have been incurred or the item
has been accepted by the customer. The aggregate effects of changes in estimates relating to inventories and/or long-term
contracts did not have a significant effect on net income or dilute\d'net income per share in fiscal 2004, 2003 or 2002.

Valuation of Accounts Recewable

The valuation of accounts receivable requires that the Company set up an allowance for estimated uncollectlble
accounts and record a corresponding charge to bad debt expense. The Company estimates uncollectible receivables based )
on such factors as its prior experience, its appraisal of a customer’s ability to pay, and economic conditions within and
outside of the aviation, defense, spéee, and electronics industries. Actual bad debt expense could differ from estimates made.

 Valuation of Inventory

A portion of inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost being determined on the firstin, first-out or the
average cost basis. The remaining portion of inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market, on a per contract accumulation
of contract costs basis, with estimated total contract costs being allocated ratably to all units. The effects of changes in estimat-
ed total contract costs are recognized in the period of revision. Losses, if any, are recognized fully in the period when identified.

The Company periodically evaluates the carrying value of inventory, giving consideration to factors such as its physical
condition, sales patterns, and expected future demand and estimates the amount necessary to write-down its slow moving,
obsolete or damaged inventory. These estimates could vary significantly from actual requirements based upon future
economic conditions, customer inventory levels or competitive factors that were not foreseen or did not exist when the
esnmated write-downs were made. :

. Valuation of Goodwzll

The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually as of October 31 or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be fully recoverable. The test requires the Company
to compare the fair value of each of its reporting units to its carrying value to determine potential impairment. If the carrying-
value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the implied fair value of that reporhng unit’s goodwill is to be calculated and
an impairment loss shall be recognized in the amount by which the carrying value of a reporting unit's goodwill exceeds its
implied fair value, if any. The determination of fair value requires the Company to make a number of estimates, assumpuons
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and judgments. If there is a material change in such assumptions used by the Company in determining fair value or if there
is a material change in the conditions or circumstances influencing fair value, the Company could be required to recognize
a material impairment charge. Based on the annual goodw111 test for impairment as of October 31, 2004, the Company
determined there is no mealrment of its goodwill. ‘

One of the Company’s reporting units has expenenced a decline in sales to forelgn rmhtary customers over the past two
fiscal years The reporting unit is actively developing various expanded capablhtles ‘but experienced some delays in fiscal
2004. Based on progress to date, the Company continues to expect that the various expanded capabilities will result in sig-
nificant sales and earnings for the reporting unit begmmng in fiscal 2005 and beyond. The timing of such sales and earnings
are primarily based upon certain regulatory and sales matters. Using management’s best estimates of these assumptions,
the Company determined that there is no- impairment of the reporting unit’s goodwill as of October 31, 2004. Should the
reporting unit incur significant delays in further developing the expanded capabthes and successfully selling ‘and- marketing
them, the Company.could be required to recognize an impairment of all or a portion of the reporting unit’s goodwill, which
had a carrying value of $17.3 million as of October 31, 2004, * - ‘

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the results of the Company’s operations, net sales and operating income by operating
segment, and the percentage of net sales represented by the respectlve items in the Company’s Consohdated Statements'
of Operahons i : :

 For the year ended October 31, . ' ‘ 2002 2003‘ ' 2004
" Net sales - ' ' S ’ 0§ 172,112,000, $ 176,453,000. S 215,744,000‘
‘ Cost of sales o : o o ’ 110,610,000 - . 118,349,000 139,932,000
- Selling, general and administrative expenses o . 39,102,000 _ 34,899,000 . - 43,193,000
Total operating costs and expenses : B : 149,712,000 153,248,000 . 183,125,000
Operating income _- o 4 $ 22,400,000 $ $23,205,000 $ 32,619,000
Net sales by segment: ‘ ' ~ ) ‘ L , ‘ ‘
Flight Support Group : : $ 120,097,000 § 128,277,000 § 153,238,000
Electronic Technologies Group - S oo 52,510,000 48,597,000 62,648,000
Intersegment sales ' . ) 495,000) (421,000) © (142,000)

§ 172,112,000 § 176,453,000 $ 215,744,000

Operating income by segment: - - - , - » - (
Flight Support Group . : ~$ 15,846,000 $° 19,187,000 S 24,251,000 -

Electronic Technologies Group . I o 11,873,000 © 8,497,000 " 15,259,000
Other, primarily corporate » c . (5,319,000) (4,479,000) (6,891,000)
: L S 22,400,000 $ 23,205,000 $ 32,619,000
‘Netsales = - S - 100.0% . 100.0% - 100.0%
- Gross profit ' L 35.7% C329% 35.1%
~ Selling, general and administrative expenses - - o ’ 22.7% ‘ o 19.8% 20.0%
Operating income | - o 13.0% 13.2% C151%
Interest expense ' ‘ o ‘ - 1.3% - 0.7% 0.5%
Interest and other income 5 : : ‘ 0.1% - : 01% .
Life insurance proceeds - . L ' o S = T - o 23%
Gain on sale of product line - o _ _ 0.7% ) C— —
Income tax expense ‘ S . 2.9%. 4.5% ' 5.1% -
. Minority interests’ share of income _ : - 08% - 1.1% , 2.3%

Netincome = . o ) : - 8.8% , 6.9% 9.6%
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Comparison of Fiscal 2004 to Fiscal 2003

Net Sales
Net sales in fiscal 2004 mcreased by 22.3% to $215 7 million, as compared to net sales of $176.5 million in fiscal 2003.

The increase in net sales reflects an increase of $25.0 million- (2.19.5% increase) to $153.2 million in sales within the FSG

and an increase of $14.1 million (a 28.9% increase) to $62.6 million in sales within the ETG. The FSG’s sales i increase
pnmanly reflects improved demand for its aftermarket replacement parts and repair and overhaul services, which reflects
continuing recovery within the commerc1a1 airline industry, as well as increased sales of new products. The increase in sales
within the ETG primarily resulted from the acqursmon of Srerra in December 2003 and nnproved demand for the Company’s

_defense and industrial electronics components.

The Company’s net sales in fiscal 2004 by market apprommated 63% from the commerc1a1 aviation industry, 24% from
the defense and space industries and 13% from other industrial markets mcludmg medical, electronics and telecommunica-
tions. Net sales in fiscal 2003 by market approxrmated 68% from the commercial aviation mdustry, 22% from the defense and
space industries and 10% from other markets.

» Gross -Profit and Opemtmg Expenses

The Company s gross profit margin xmproved to 35.1% in ﬁscal 2004 as compared to 32.9% in fiscal 2003, reflecting
higher margms within the ETG. The ETG's gross profit margm increase was primarily due to the acquisition of Sierra. The
FSG’s gross profit margin in fiscal 2004 approximated 2003 marg1ns principally due to higher costs from write-offs of excess
inventory in the first quarter of fiscal 2004 and the resi:ructuring expenses referred to below, partially offset by a reduction
of the product warranty reserve and lower research and development expenses as a percentage of net sales. Consolidated
cost of sales in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 mcluded approxnnately $10.4 million and 39 2 mllhon respectively, of new product
research and development expenses..

During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2004, the Company mcurred an aggregate of $850,000 of restructunng
expenses within certain subsidiaries of the FSG that provide repair and overhaul services (“repair and overhaul subsidiar-
ies™. The unexpected death of an executive of certain of the repair and overhaul subsidiaries (see “Life Insurance Proceeds”

- below) was the impetus for the commencement of the restructuring activities, which the Company believes will allow it -

to better service its customers and improve operating margins. The restructuring expenses include $350,000 of inventory
write-downs, which were recorded within Cost of sales, and $261,000 of management hiring/relocation related expenses,
$168,000 of moving costs, and other associated expenses and $71,000 of contract termination costs that were all recorded
within selling, general and administrative (SG&A) ‘expenses. The inventory written down is related to older generation -
aircraft for which repair and overhaul services are being discontinued by the Company. The management hiring/relocation
related expenses include one-time employee termination/hirinig benefits and relocation costs. The moving costs and other
associated expenses consist of moving costs related to the consohdatlon of two repair and ovérhaul facilities. Contract term1
nation costs include the lease termination on a facility. :

SG&A expenses were $43.2 rmlhon and $34.9 million in fiscal 2004 and ﬁscal 2003, respecnvely The increase in SG&A
expenses reflects higher sales within the FSG, the acquisition of Sierra, an increase in Corporate expenses, the aforemen-
tioned restructuring expenses, and litigation-related expenses referred to below. The increase in Corporate expenses from -
$4.5 million in fiscal 2003 to $6.9 million in fiscal 2004 reflects accrued performance awards of $1.4 million in fiscal 2004 and
a reversal of approxrmately $400 000 of professional fees in fiscal 2003 that were accrued at the end of fiscal 2002 pursuant to

" a contractual arrangement that was renegotiated in the first quarter of fiscal 2003.

The Company also incurred $410,000 of legal and other costs related to litigation brought by a subsidiary of the ETG

‘against two former employees for breach of contract and other possrble causes of action against the former employees and

others, which were recorded within SG&A expenses.

The restructuring expenses and litigation-related expenses decreased net i mcome by $684,000, or $.03 per diluted share
in fiscal 2004. For more information on the restructuring activities, see Note 12, Restructunng Expenses of the Notes to . -

- Consolidated Financial Statements. For more information on the htrgatron -related expenses, see Note 17, Comrmtments and’
- Contingencies - Litigation, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Asa percentage of net sales, SG&A expenses remained stable at 20. 0% in fiscal 2004 comipared to 19.8% in fiscal 2003
despite a .4% increase attributable to the aforementioned restructuring expenses and htlgahon related expenses, which
reflects efforts to control costs whrle increasing revenues.
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Operating Income
Operating income in ﬁscal 2004 increased by 40.6% to 332 6 million, compared to operating income of $23.2 million in

fiscal 2003. The increase in operating income reflects an increase of $6.8 million (a 79.6% increase) in operating income of

the ETG from $8.5 million in fiscal 2003 to $15.3 million in fiscal 2004 reflecting the acquisition of Sierra and an increase of
$5.1 million (a 26.4% increase) in operating income of the FSG from $19.2 million in fiscal 2003 to $24.3 million in fiscal 2004
reflecting the higher sales. These increases were partially offset by the increase in Corporate expenses. As a percentage

of net sales, operating income increased from 13.2% in fiscal 2003 to 15.1% in fiscal 2004. The improvement in operating

. income as a percentage of net sales reflects an increase in the ETG’s operating income as a percentage of net sales from

17.5% in fiscal 2003 to 24.4% in fiscal 2004 and an increase in the FSG’s operating income as a percentage of net sales from
15.0% in fiscal 2003 to 15.8% in fiscal 2004 despite a .4% decrease attributable to the aforementioned restructuring expenses
and litigation-related expenses. The improvement in the ETG’s operating income and operating income as a percentage of
net sales reflects the purchase of Sierra and the increased sales, discussed previously. The increase in the FSG’s operating
income and operating income as a percentage of net sales reflects the increased sales previously discussed and lower SG&A
expenses asa percentage of sales.

Interest Expense )

Interest expense in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 was comparable as average borrowings outstanding and associated interest
rates remained at approximately the same levels. Additional 1nformatlon about the Company S revolvmg credit. fac1hty may
be found w1th1n “Fi 1nanc1ng Actlvmes which follows.

Interest and Other Income
 Interest and other income in ﬁscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 were not matenal

sze Insurance Proceeds

In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company received $5.0 million in proceeds from a- key-person life insurance
policy maintained by a subsidiary of the FSG. The life insurance proceeds, which are non-taxable, increased ne‘; income
(after the minority interest’s share of the income) in fiscal 2004 by $4.0 million, or $.16 per diluted share.

Income Tax Expense .
The Company’s effective tax rate decreased from 35.6% in fiscal 2003 to 29.9% in fiscal 2004 as the aforementioned
$5.0 million in life insurance proceeds and the minority interest’s share of the income of Sierra LLC are excluded from the

Company’s income that is subject to federal income taxes. For a detailed analysis of the provision for income taxes see Note

7, Income Taxes, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Minority Interests’ Share of Income .

Minority mterests share of income of consolidated subSIdlarles relates to the minority interests held in HEICO
Aerospace and the 20% minority interest held in Sierra LLC. The increase from- ﬁscal 2003 to fiscal 2004 was attributable to
higher earnings of the FSG and income of Sierra LLC. :

Net Income .

The Company’s net income was $20.6 million, or S 80 per diluted share, in fiscal 2004 compared to $12 2 million, or $.50
per diluted share, in fiscal 2003. The net impact of the life insurance proceeds reduced by the restructurmg expenses and
litigation-related expenses increased net income by $3.3 million, or $.13 per diluted share in fiscal 2004.

Outlook

- Both the FSG and the ETG reported significantly improved sales and operating income for fiscal 2004 compared to
fiscal 2003. Operating margins within the FSG continued to show year-over-year improvement despite the restructuring
expenses and operating margins within the ETG continued at a strong level.

The Company’s December 2004 acquisition of a producer of specialty high voltage mterconnectlon devices and wire
primarily for defense -applications and other markets (see Note 20, Subsequent Event, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements) furthers its product and customer diversification strategy. Net sales from the defense and space industries and
other industrial markets, including medical, electronics and telecommunications, represented apprommately 37% of the -

- Company’s total net sales in fiscal 2004.
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~ As the Company looks forward to fiscal 2005 and beyond, HEICO will continue to focus on new products, further
market penetration, additional acquisitions and maintaining its financial strength. Based on current market conditions, the
Company believes that the FSG’s operating margins can continue to show year-over-year improvement while maintaining the
strong operating margins in the ETG. Including the results of the Company’s recent acquisition, the Company is targeting
fiscal 2005 net sales and earnings growth over fiscal 2004 results. .

Comparison of Fiscal 2003 to Fiscal 2002

‘Net Sales

Net sales in fiscal 2003 totaled 3176 5 million, up 3% when compared to net sales of $172.1 million in fiscal 2002. The
increase reflects higher sales within the FSG, which increased 7% to $128.3 million in fiscal 2003 compared to $120.1 million
in fiscal 2002, partially offset by lower sales within the ETG, which decreased 7% to $48.6 million in fiscal 2003 from $52.5
‘million i in fiscal 2002. The sales increase within the FSG primarily reflects stronger repair and overhaul related sales and
higher commercial aftermarket parts and services sales primarily attributable to sales of new products and services and
improved demand within the commercial aerospace industry in the later half of fiscal 2003 following the end of the impact of
the rmhtary conflict in Iraq and SARS. The sales décrease within the ETG is pnmanly attributed to a decline in demand from
certain forelgn military customers.

Gross Profit and Opemtmg Expenses

The Company’s gross profit margins averaged 32 9% in ﬁscal 2003 as compared to 35.7% in fiscal 2002. This decrease
is primarily due to lower margins within the ETG attributed to lower foreign military sales and lower sales of other higher
margin products. The FSG’s gross profit margins in fiscal 2003 epproxim'ated fiscal 2002 margins. Cost of sales in fiscal
2003 and fiscal 2002 includes approximately $9.2 million and $9.7 million, respectively, of new product research and develop-
ment expenses net of reimbursements pursuant to cooperation and joint venture agreements. The decline in new product
research and development expenses was:in line with a decrease in the amount budgeted for fiscal 2003 relative to actual
fiscal 2002 expenses.

" Selling, general and admuustratrve (SG&A) expenses decreased $4 2 million to $34 9 million in fiscal 2003 from $39.1
million in fiscal 2002. The decrease in SG&A ¢ expenses is mainly due to lower commission expenses within the ETG due to
the lower sales discussed previously, lower corporate expenses, and reduced bad debt expenses within the FSG. Corporate

_expenses include the reversal of approximately $400,000 of professional fees that were accrued in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2002 pursuant to a contractual agreement, which was renegotiated in the first quarter of fiscal 2003. Bad debt expenses were
lower within the FSG in fiscal 2003 due to bankruptcy filings by certain customers in fiscal 2002. As a percentage of sales,
SG&A expenses decreased to 19.8% in fiscal 2003 compared to 22.7% in fiscal 2002. The decrease is primarily due to higher
sales volumes and lower bad debt expenses within the FSG, the reducUon in corporate expenses and by lower sales of prod-
ucts bearing higher commission rates within the ETG.

Opemtmg Income

Operatlng income increased to $23.2 million in ﬁscal 2003 from $22.4 million in fiscal 2002. The increase in operating
income reflects higher operating income within the FSG, which increased to $19.2 million in fiscal 2003 from $15.8 million
in fiscal 2002 and a $0.8 million reduction in corporate expenses, partially offset bY'lo_wer operating income within the ETG,
which decreased to $8.5 million in fiscal 2003 compared to $11.9 million in fiscal 2002. As a percentage of sales, operating
income increased to 13.2% in fiscal 2003 from 13.0% in fiscal 2002. The increase in operating income as a percentage of sales
reflects an increase in the FSG’s operating income as a percentage of sales from 13.2% in fiscal 2002 to 15.0% in fiscal 2003,
offset by a decrease in the ETG’s operating income as a percentage of sales from 22.6% in fiscal 2002 to 17.5% in fiscal 2003.
The increase in the FSG’s operating income as a percentage of sales reflects the higher sales and lower bad debt expenses -
discussed above. The decrease in the ETG’s operating income as a percentage of sales reflects the lower sales and gross
profit margms discussed prewously

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased to $1.2 million in fiscal 2003 from $2.2 rmlhon in fiscal 2002. The decrease was principally
due to a lower weighted average balance outstanding under the Company’s revolving credit facilities in fiscal 2003 and
lower interest rates. Additional information about the Company’s revolving credit facilities may be found within “Financing
Activities”, which follows. '

19
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Interest and Other Income » _ . . .
Interest and \other -income in fiscal 2003 appgoximated amounts in fiscal 2002.

Gam on Sale of Product Line

In fiscal 2002, the Company recogmzed an addmonal pretax gain of §1, 230 000 (8765 000 net of tax, or $.03 per diluted ’
share) on the sale of the Trilectron product line due to the ehmmatlon of certain reserves upon the expiration of indemnifi- .

' cation provisions of the sales contract.

Income Tax Expense :

. The Company’s effective tax rate was 35.6% in ﬁscal 2003 compared to 23.0% in fiscal 2002. Income tax expense in fiscal
2002 reflects the recovery of a portion of taxes paid-in prior years resulting from an income tax audit completed in fiscal
2002, which increased net.income by $2.1 million, or $.09 per diluted share, net of related expenses (including proiessxonal
fees and interest) as explamed further in Note 7, Income Taxes, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The
recovery of taxes.paid was the principal reason for the lower effective tax in fiscal 2002. For a detailed analysis of the provi-
sion for income taxes, see Note 7, Income Taxes, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Minority Interests Share of Income

Mmonty interests’ share of income of consolidated subsidiaries represents the m1nor1ty interests held in HEICO
Aerospace. Minority interests mcreased by $2.0 million in fiscal 2003 as compared to an mcrease of $1. 3 million i in fiscal

,2002 due maJnly to the hlgher earnings w1thm the FSG.

Net Income
The Company’s net income was 812 2 million, or $ 50 per diluted share, in ﬁscal 2003 compared to net i income of $15.2

 million, or $.62 per diluted share in fiscal 2002. The lower net income in fiscal 2003 primarily reflects the effect of the income

tax recovery and gain on sale of a product line in fiscal 2002, which increased net income by an aggregate of $2.9 million,
or $.12 per diluted share, and higher nunonty interests in ﬁscal 2003 as dlscussed above offset by shghtly hlgher operaung
income in fiscal 2003. ’ .

Infiation- .

‘The Cdmpany has generally experienced increases in its costs of labor, materials and services consistent with overall
rates of inflation. The impact of such increases on the Company’s net income has been generally mmumzed by efforts to
lower costs through manufacturing efﬁcxenmes and cost reductions. :

Liquidity and Caputal Resources

The Company generates cash primarily from its operaung actxvmes and financing aCthltleS including. borrowmgs under
long-term credit agreements. . -

Principal uses of cash by the Company mclude acqmsﬂnons payments of principal a.nd mterest on debt capital expendi- ,
tures, cash dividends and increases in workimg capital. . ,

The amount of cash and cash equivalents in the accompanymg Consohdated Balance Sheets declined from $4.3 million
as of October 31, 2003 to $.2 million as of October 31, 2004 principally through the use of available cash to repay borrowings
under the Company’s revolving credit facility. The revolving credit facility may be drawn upon or repald as necessary for
workmg capital and general corporate needs of the Company. o ‘ -

The Company believes that its net cash provided by operating activities and avallable borrowings under 1ts revolving
credlt facility will be sufﬁc1ent to fund cash requlrements for the foreseeable future -
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Net cash provided by operatlng activities was $44 1 rmlllon for fiscal 2004; consisting prlmanly of net income of $20.6
million, including $4.0 million of cash proceeds from life insurance net of the minority interest’s share, depreciation and
amortization of $6.8 million, minority interests’ share of income of consolidated subsidiaries of $5.0 million, a deferred

- income tax provision of $4.1 million, a tax benefit on stock option exercises of $1.3 million, and a decrease in net operat- A
ing assets of $6.5 million. The decrease in net operating assets (current assets used in operating activities net of current
liabilities) primarily reflects lower inventories resulting from efforts to improve inventory turnover by reducing the level of
finished goods maintained on hand, higher accounts receivable and current liabilities associated with mcreased sales levels
and higher income taxes payable resulting from the tnmng of required income-tax payments.

Net cash prov1ded by operating act1v1t1es was $28.9 million for fiscal 2003, principally reﬂecﬁng net i income of $12.2
million, depreciation and amortization of $6.7 million, deferred income tax provision of $3.5 million, minority interests’ share
of income of consolidated subsidiaries of $2.0 million, and a d.ecrease in net operating assets of $4.0 million. The decrease in
net operating assets (current assets used in operating activities net of current liabilities) primarily reflects lower inventories
resultmg from efforts to 1mprove inventory turnover by reducmg the level of finished goods maintained on hand.

_Net cash provided by operating activities was $26.3 million for fiscal 2002, prmc1pa11y reﬂectmg net income of $15.2
rmlhon depreciation. and amortization of $6.0 million, deferred income tax provision of $3.9 million, and a tax benefit related
to stock option exercises of $2.9 million, partially offset by an increase in net operating assets of $1.9 million. The increase
in net operatmg assets (current assets used in operating actxvmes net of current liabilities) pnmanly resulted from higher
inventories associated with new products ‘

"Investing Acthtzes :

Net cash used in investing - act1v1t1es durmg the three ﬁscal year penod ended October 31, 2004 primarily relates to -
~various acquisitions, including contingent payments, totaling $34.2 million, including $28.1 million in fiscal 2004. F urther
details on acquisitions may be found under the caption “Overview”. Capital expenditures aggregated to $18.8 million over
the last three fiscal years, primarily reflecting the expansion of existing productron facilities and capabilities, whrch were-
generally funded by cash generated by operatmg activities. '

Financing Acthtzes

The Company used cash provided by operatmg activities to make net payments on its revolvmg credit facility of $14.0
million in fiscal 2004, $24.0 million in fiscal 2003 and $11. 0 million in fiscal 2002. The net payments made in fiscal 2004 reflect
$27.0 million borrowed to fund the aforementioned acquisition, net of repayments of $41.0 million. For the three fiscal year

" period ended October 31, 2004, the Company paid cash dlwdends aggregatmg to $3.3 mxlhon and received proceeds from
stock option exercises of $2.4 million.

In April 2004, the Company extended the term of its $120 million revolving credit agreement by one year to May 2007.
The revolving credit facility may be used for working capital and general corporate needs of the Company, including letters
of credit, and to finance acquisitions (generally not in excess of an aggregate total of $30 million over any trailing twelve-
month period without the requisite approval of the bank syndicate). The Company can extend the revolving credit term
for an additional one year period subject to requisite bank syndicate ‘approval. Advances under the revolving credit facility
accrue interest at the Company’s choice of the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) or ‘the “Base Rate” plus applicable.
margins (based on the Company’s ratio of total funded debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortiza-
tion, or “leverage ratio”). The revolving credit facility is secured by substantlally all assets other than real property of the
Company and its subsidiaries and contains covenants which require, among other things, the maintenance of a leverage *
ratio and a fixed charge coverage ratio as well as minimum net worth requirements. See Note 6, Long Term Debt, of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information regarding the revolving credrt facrhty.
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Contractual Obligetiohs .
The foll‘owirig table summarizes the Company’s contractual obligations as of October 31, 2004:
. Payments due by fiscal period

Total 2005 2006 - 2007 2008 - 2009 Thereafter
Long-term debt obligations @ B - 817,980,000 § —  $16,000,000 - $ 1,980,000 § —
Capital lease obligations @ ' : ; 149,000 58,000 ’ 91,000 — —
Operating lease obligations @ 3 ' 6,859,000 1,960,000 ¢ 2,516,000 - 1,302,000 1,081,000
Purchase obligations © : ' 206,000 206,000 —_ , — —
cher long-term liabilities ¥ - 4 . 562,000 74,000 148,000 -+ 137,000 203,000
Total contractual obligations S § 25,756,000 $ 2,298,000 § 18,755,000 S 3,419,000 § 1,284,009-

(1) See Note 6, Long-Term Debt, of the Notes to Consolidated. Financial Statements and Financing Activities above for additional information regarding the
Company’s long-term debt and capital lease obligations.

(2) See Note 17, Commitments and Contingencies — Lease Commitments, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information
regarding the Company's operating lease obligations.

. (3) Includes commitments for capitalized expenditures and excludes all, purchase obligations for inventory and supphes in the ordmary course of business.

(4) These amounts represent projected payments under our Directors Retirement Plan, which is explained further in Note-10, Retirement Plans, of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements. The plan is unfunded and we pay benefits directly. The amounts in-the table do not include amounts refated to the
"Company's deferred compensation arrangement for which there is an offsetting asset included in the Company's Consclidated Balance Sheets.

_ Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company has arranged for standby letters of credit aggregating to $1.2 million to meet the security requirement of
its insurance company for potential workers' compensation claims. These letters of credit are supported by the Company’s
$120 million revolving credit facility. In addition, the Company’s industrial development revenue bonds are secured by a $2.0
million letter of credit expiring April 2008 and a mortgage on the related properties pledged as collateral.

As part of the agreement to acquire an 80% interest in Sierra Microwave Technology, Inc. (see Note 2 Acqmsmons and

‘ Strateglc Alliances, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements), the Company has the right to purchase the minority

interests in approxunately ten years, or sooner under certain conditions, and the minority holders have the right to cause
the Company to purchase thelr interests commencmg in approximately five years, or sooner under certaun condmons

New Accounting Standards

In December 2003, the FASB 1ssued FASB Interpretation No. 46(R), or FIN 46(R), “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities”. FIN 46(R) replaces FIN 46 and addresses consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities. This
Interpretation shall be applied to variable interest entities or potential variable interest entities commonly referred to as special-
purpose entities by the end of the first reporting period ending after December 15, 2003 and applied to all variable interest
entities by the end of the first reporting period ending after March 15, 2004. The adophon of FIN 46(R) did not have a material
effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial position.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment”. ThlS Statement revises FASB Statement
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued

- 10 Employees”. SFAS No. 123 (R) focuses primarily on the accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains employee

services in share-based payment transactions. SFAS No. 123(R) requires companies to recognize in the statement of opera-
tions the cost of employee services recéived in exchange for awards of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value

. of those awards (with limited exceptions). This Statement is effective as of the first reporting period that begms after June

15, 2005. Accordmgly, the Company will adopt SFAS 123(R) in its fourth quarter of fiscal 2005. The Company is currently

) evaluating the provisions of SFAS 123(R) and has not yet determined the 1rnpact that this Statement will have on its results’

of operatlons or financial position.
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Forward Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Report constitute ,“forwa.rd-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements contained herein that are not clearly historical in nature may be forward-
looking and the words “believe,” “expect,” “estimate” and similar expressions are generally intended to identify forward-
looking statements. Any forward-looking statements contained herein, in press releases, written statements or other
documents filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission or in communications and discussions with investors and
analysts in the normal course of business through meeﬁngs,‘ phone calls and conference calls, concerning our operations,
economic-performance and financial condition are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and contingen-

" cies. We have based these forward-looking statements on-our current expectations and projections about future events.

" All forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control, which may cause
actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from anticipated results, performance or achievements.
Also, forward-looking statements are based upon management’s estimates of fair values and of future costs, using currently
available information. Therefore, actual results may differ materially from those expressed or 1mphed in those statements
Factors that could cause such differences include, but are not limited to: :

¢ Lower demand for commerc1a1 air travel or airline fleet changes, Wthh could cause lower demand for our goods and
services;

¢ Product spe(:lﬁcatwn costs and requlrements whlch could cause an increase to our costs to complete contracts;

* Governmental and regulatory demands, export policies and restrictions, reductions in defense or space spending by
U.S. and/or foreign customers, or competition from existing and new competitors, which could reduce our sales;

* HEICO’s ability to introduce new products and product pricing levels, which could reduce our sales or sales grthh;~

* HEICO’s ability to make acquisitions and achieve operating synergies from acquired businesses, customer credit risk,
interest rates and economic conditions within and outside of the aviation, defense, space and electronics industries,
. which could negatively impact our costs and revenues; and

_* HEICO’s ability to maintain effective internal controls, which could adversely affect our business and the market
price of our common stock.

We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from changes in values of financial instruments, including interest rate risk and
liquidity risk. The Company engages in transactions in the normal course of business that expose it to market risks. The
primary market risk to which the Company has exposure is interest rate risk, mamly related to its revolving credit facility
and industrial revenue bonds, which had an aggregate outstanding balance of $18.0 million as of October 31, 2004. Interest
rates on borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit facility are based on LIBOR plus a variable margin, while
interest rates on the industrial development revenue bonds are'based on variable rates. Interest rate risk associated with the
Company’s variable rate debt is the potential increase in interest expense from an increase in interest rates. Based on the
outstanding debt balance as of October 31, 2004, a hypothetical 10% increase in interest rates would increase the Company’s
interest expense by approxxmately $50,000 in fiscal 2005.

The Company maintains a portion of its cash and cash equlvalents in financial instruments with ongmal maturities of
three months or less. These financial instruments are subject to interest rate risk and will decline in value if interest rates
increase. Due to the short duration of these financial instruments, a hypothetical 10% increase in interest rates as of October
31, 2004 would not have a material effect on- the Company’ s results of opérations or financial position.
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As of October 31, - 2004 2003
As Restated
Assets See Note 19
Current assets: _ o ' ‘
Cash and cash equivalents . - o $ 214,000 $ 4,321,000
~ Accounts receivable, net ' ' 36,798,000 28,820,000
Inventories 48,020,000 51,240,000
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ‘ 3,208,000 3,003,000
Deferred income taxes . 5,672,_000 ) 3,872,000
Total current assets - 93,912,000 91,256,000
~ Property, plant and equipment, net 40,558,000 39,783,000
Goodwill . 216,674,000 188,700,000
Other assets , 13,111,000 13,505,000
___ Total assets S $ 364,255,000 $ 333,244,000
" Liabilities and Shareholders Equnty - S
Current liabilities: : - C . ‘ '
~ - Current maturities of long-term debt o e S . 58,000 $ . 29,000
Trade accounts payable o . 7,969,000 " 7,475,000
*Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 20,244,000 - 14,362,000
_Income taxes payable ’ 3,771,000 - 820,000
7 Total current liabilities 32,042,000 22,686,000
Long-term deht,»net of current maturities © 18,071,000 31,984,000
Deferred income taxes 16,262,000 10,337,000
Other non-current liabilities 5,834,000 - 6,142,000
" Total liabilities - 72,209,000 71,149,000 .
Minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries, 44,644,000 " 40,577,000 .
Comnntments and conhngencxes (N otes 2and 17)
Shareholders’ equity: . '
Preferred Stock, S 01 par value per share; 10,000,000 shares
" authorized; 300,000 shares designated as Series B Junior I
Parhcma’ung Preferred Stock and 300,000 shares des1gnated
as Series C Junior Part1c1pat1ng Preferred Stock; none issued — —
o Common Stock, $.01 par value par share; 30,000,000 shares authorized; : v
9,898,451 and 9,690,945 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 99,000 97,000
Class A Comimon Stock, $.01 par value per share; 30,000,000 shares ' '
authorized; 14,325,304 and 13, 876 496 shares 1ssued and ) ~°
outstanding, respectively ; '143,000 © 117,000
- Capital in excess of par value 187,950,000 155,064,000 |
Retained earnings - . 59,210,000 69,172,000
, - 247,402,000 - 224,450,000
Less: Note receivable secured by Class A Common Stock = (2.932,000)
~ Total shareholders’ equity ’ : 247,402,000 221,518,000

364,255,000

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity =~ = . 8

"The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

S 333,244,000



. Diluted

25,754,508

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these' consolidated financial statements.

HEICO CORPORATION AND SUBBIDIARIES O @
Consolidated Statements of Operations ° °
' ' ’ ' o o
" For the year ended October 31, 12004 - 2003 © 2002
. Net sales $ 215,744,000 176,453,000 $ 172,112,000
Operating costs and expenses:
. Cost of sales ‘ S 139,932,000 . 118,349,000 110,610,000
Selling, general and administrative expenses - 43,193,000 - 34,899,000 39,102,000
Total operating costs and expenses 183,125,000 153,248,000 149,712,000
. Operating income 32,619,000 23,205,000 22,400,000
Interest expense (1,090,000) (1,189,000) (2,248,000)
Interest and other income 26,000 93,000 97,000
Life insurance proceeds 5,000,000 — —
Gain on sale of product line : — — 1,230,000
Income before incorﬁe taxes and minority interests 36,555,000 . 22,109,000 21,479,000
Income tax expense ‘ 10,948,000 7,872,000 4,930,000
Ihcome before rrﬁnority intérests ’ - 25,607,000 © 14,237,000 16,549,000
Minority interests’ éhare .of income 4,977,000 2,015,000 1,323,000
Net income i § 20,630,000 12,222,000 $ 15,226,000
Net income per share: :
Basic S . .86 .53 $ 66
Diluted S 80 50 $ 62
Weighted average number of common shares
" outstanding: ‘ o . :
Basic - 24,036,980 ‘ 23,236,841 . 23,003,784
. 24,531,280 24,732,679




HECO COTPORATION AND BUBS'DIAR €8 o ©
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity | e ©
and Comprehensive Income : - \ o o
‘ Class A
Common K Common
Stock Stock
‘Balances as of October31 2001, | . S 93000 $ 115000
Netincome : ' ) — : —_—

Unrealized gain on'interest rate swap, net of tax beneﬁt of $144,000 - —
Comprehensive income : : . = ) —
Cash dividends (8.045 per share) ' T — ' —
Payment on note receivable from employee savings and investment plan ‘ R ‘ —
Tax benefit from stock options exercises . ‘ — —

Exercises of stock options . ; o 1,000 ‘ 1,000
Repurchase of stock o : ‘ = —
Other” ‘ — - —
Balances as of October 31, 2002 o : ‘ 94,000 - 116,000
Net income o : . - ' ' - —

‘Comprehensive income ' : ' ' - —
Proceeds from shares sold in connection with business acquisition (Note 17) .= e —
Cash dividends ($.045 per share) o = ‘ -
" Tax benefit from stock options exercises . - - S —
Exercises of stock options ’ . ‘ 3,000 : 1,000
-Repurchase of stock R N _ - —
Other - ‘ ' ’ T R _ C— —
Balances as of October 31, 2003 . ’ i - : 97,000 117,000

10% stock dividend on Common Stock and Class A Common Stock . .
paid in shares of Class A Common Stock (Note 8) ‘ - ‘ .. 22,000

Net income - ‘ ) — —
Comprehensxve income S ‘ — —
Shares issued in connectlon with busmess acquisition (Note 2) o — ' 3,000
Proceeds from shares sold in connection with business acquisition (Note 17) — : C—
Adjustment to guaranteed resale value of shares issued in connection ‘

_ with business acquisition (Note 17) ' _ ’ X — ' —
Cash dividends ($.05 per share) 3 : ‘ - ‘ —
Tax benefit from stock options exercises o ’ B — | —

Exercises of stock options o _ o 2,000 < 2,000
Balances as of October 31, 2004 ‘ - A 8 99,000 - § . 143,000

The accompanying notss are an integral parf of these consolidated financial statements.
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Accumulated

Capital in Other )
Excess of Comprehensive Retained - Notes - Comprehensive
Par Value Loss - .Earnings . . Receivable Income
$ 150,605,000 8§ (226,000) 43,830,000 S (5,648,000) S
— — 15,226,000 ' — § 15,226,000
— 226,000 — — 226,000
— — — — $ 15,452,000
— — (1,045,000) R —
. = — ' - 648,000
2,944,000 — — g
436,000 — — —
(200,000) — — —
) 62,000 — (4,000 =
153,847,000 — " 58,007,000 (5,000,000)
— — 12,222,000 ' — $ 12,222,000
— - e — $ 12,222,000
— — — 2,068,000 :
— — (1,055,000) : —
© 348,000 — — —
985,000 — — —
_ (120,000) — — —
4,000 — (2,000) =
155,064,000 — 69,172,000 (2,932,000)
29,342,000 — (29,393,000) — .
— — 20,630,000 — $ 20,630,000
L= — o — — $ 20,630,000
2,997,000 — — —
— — — 1,259,000
(1,673,000) — o — 1,673,000
— - - (1,201,000) J—
1,258,000 . — — —
959,000 — : — -
3,000 : — 2,000 —
$ 187,950,000 $ — 59,210,000 . $ —




HMEICC CORPERATON AXND SUBSIDIARIES @ O
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows ©°
G O
_ ‘
For the year ended October 31, - © 2004 2003 2002
‘ ’ - As Restated As Restated
. . See Note 19 . - See Note 19
Operating Activities: - . S ‘ .
Net income o . ) $ 20,630,000 § 12,222,000 § 15,226,000
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash prov1ded ’
by operatmg act1v1t1es : .
Depreciation and amortlzatmn 6,779,000 6,720,000 5,967,000
Deferred income tax provision , 4,125,000 * 3,520,000 ,3,917,000
Minority interests’ share of income 4,977,000 . 2,015,000 1,323,000
" Tax benefit from stock option exercises - 1,258,000 " 348,000 2,944,000
- Gain on sale of product line ‘ K = ‘ — (1,230,000)
Change in estimate of product warranty liability (535,000) — ‘ —
* Restructuring expense related to inventory write-downs - 350,000 — —_
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisi_tions:' ) :
(Incre;ase) decrease in accounts receivable (6,193,000) - (101,000} 3,421,000
* Decrease ‘(increase) in inventories _ 3,576,000 3,705,000 (3;996;000)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and o ' .
other current assets 263,000 999,000 - (393,000)
_ Increase (decrease) in trade account payables accrued . Lo ‘ ‘
- expenses and other current liabilities : 6,036,000 (1,390,000) (588,000)
Increase (decrease) in income taxes payable 2,951,000_ 820,000 (564,000) -
Other ‘ : (167,000) 6,000 267,000
_Net cash prov1ded by operatmg actlvmes - 44,050,000 28,864,000 26,294,000
" Investing AchmeS' : , :
- Acquisitions and related costs, net of cash acquxred T (28,099,000) (1,554,000) (4,515,000)
" Capital expendltures . '(5,737,000) (4,723,000) (8,338,000)
Payment received from employee savings and - ' : ,
investment plan note receivable — - 648,000
Other - (335,000) 85,000 ° (2,188,000)
Net cash used in investing act1v1tles (34,171,000) . (6,192,000) " (14,393,000)
Fmancmg Act1v1t1es o o :
Payments on revolving credit fac111ty, net } (14,000,000) (24,000,000) (11,000,000)
Cash dividends paid’ : -(1,201,000) (1,055,000) _(i,045,000)
Proceeds from stock option exercises . +963,000 - 989,000 _ 438,000 _
Proceeds from shares of common stock sold in corinecﬁon S
with business acquisition ' 1,259,000 - 2,068,000 —
Repurchases of common stock — (120,000) " (200,000)
Minority interest investment 164,000 249,000 =
Other : (1,171,000 (1,021,000 112,000
Net cash used in financing activities (13,986,000) (22,890,000) " (11,695,000)
'Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (4,107,000) (218,000) . 206,000
~ Cash'and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4,321,000 4,539,000 4,333,000
214,000 $ 4,539,000

Cash and cash eqhiivalents at end of year - ' - S

.8 4,321,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 1. Summary of Significant Accotmtihg Policies’

-Nature of Business , . ‘

HEICO Corporation, through its principal subsidiaries HEICO Aerospace Holdings Corp. (HEICO Aerospace) and

HEICO Electronic Technologies Corp..(HEICO Electronic) and their subsidiaries (collectively, the Company), is principally

engaged in the design, manufacture and sale of aerospace, defense, and electronics related products and services through-

" out the United States and internationally. HEICO Aerospace’s principal sdbsidiaries‘include 'HEICO Aerospace Corporation,
Jet Avion Corporation, LPI Industries Corporation, Aircraft Technology, Inc., Northwings ‘Accessories Corporation, McClain
International, Inc., Rogers-Dierks, Inc., Turbine Kinetics, Inc., Thermal Structures, Inc., Future Aviation, Inc., Aero Design,
Inc., HEICO Aerospace Parts Corp., Aviation Facilities, Inc., Jetseal, Inc. and Niacc Technology, Inc. HEICO Electronic’s
principal subsidiaries include Radiant Power Corp., Leader Tech, Inc., Santa Barbara Infrared, Inc., Analog Modules, Inc.,
TInertial Airline Services, Inc. and Sierra Microwave Technology, LLC. The: Company’s customer base is primarily the
commercial airline, defense, spac‘e'and electr‘onic_s industries. As of October 31, 2004, the Company’s principal operations
are located in Glastonbury, Connecticut; Atlanta, ‘Geor'g‘ia Cleveland; Ohio; Georgetown, Texas; Mt. Juliet; Ténnessee;
Anacortes and Spokane, Washington; Corona, Fresno, and Santa Barbara, California; and Fort Myers, Hollywood M1am1

" Orlando, Sarasota Tampa a.nd Titusville, Florida.

" Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements mclude the accounts of HEICO Corporatlon and its subsidiaries, all of which
are wholly-owned except for HEICO Aerospace, which i is 20%owned by Lufthansa Technik AG, the technical services
subsidiary of Lufthansa German Airlines, and one subsidiary within HEICO Electionic, which is 80% owned. In addition,
'HEICO Aerospace consolidates a joint venture formed in March 2001, which is 16%-owned by American Airlines’ parent -

“ company, AMR Corporation, and an 80%owned subsidiary. (See Note 2, Acquisitions and Strategic Alliances, of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statement) HEICO Aerospace also accounts for a 50%-owned joint venture formed in fiscal 2002
under the equity method. The Company’s investment in the 50%owned joint venture and its share of its operating results
were not significant to the Company’ s consolidated ﬁnancral statements All significant mtercompany balances and transac-
t10ns are eliminatéd. : :

Use of Estimates

The preparation of ﬁnancral statements in conforrmty vsnth accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America requires management to make estimates and assumptxons that affect the reported amounts of assets and Liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of rev-
enues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from’ those estimates.

.Cash and Cash Equwalents

For purposes of the consolidated ﬁnancral statements "the, Company cons1ders all hlghly hquxd mvestments purchased
with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equ1valents ‘

Inventory

, " A portion of inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost being deterrmned on the first -in, first-out or the

. average cost basis. The remaining portion of inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market, on a per contract accurnulation
of contract costs basis, with estimated total contract costs being allocated ratably to all units. The effects of changes in estimat-
ed total contract costs are recognizéd in the penod of revision. Losses if any, are recognized fully in the perxod when identified.

Property, Plant and Equupment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. Deprec1at10n and amoruzatmn is provided mainly on the stra1ght line
method over the estimated useful lives of the various assets, Property, plant and equipment useful lives are as follows:

Buildings’ o o . 28‘t0‘ 55 years‘

Leasehold improvements: © 3to 40 years
Machinery and equipment - 3 to 20 years ;

~Tooling ‘ R 2 to 5 years
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The costs of major additions and improvements are capitalized. Repairs and maintenance are charged to operations as
incurred. Upon disposition, the cost and related accumulated deprec1at10n are removed from the accounts and any related

" gain or loss is reflected in earnings.

‘Goodwﬂl and Other Intangible Assets

_The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually as of October 31 or more frequently 1f events or changes in circum-
stances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be fully recoverable. The test requires the Company to compare
the fair value of each of its reporting units to its carrying value to determine potential impairment. If the carrying value of a report-
ing unit exceeds its faur value, the implied fair value of that reporting unit's goodwill is to be calculated and an impairment loss
shall be recognized in the amount by which the carrying value of a reporting unit's goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, if any.

“The, Company’s intangible assets subject to amortization consist primarily of licenses, patents and non-compete cov-
enants and are amortlzed on the straight-line method over thelr legal or estimated useful lives, rangmg from 7 to 17 years.

Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equlvalents accounts receivable, trade accotints payable and accrued expenses
and other current liabilities approximate fair value due to the relatively short maturity of the respective instruments. The
carrying value of long-term debt approximates fair market value due to its floating interest rates.

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of tem-

porary cash investments and trade receivables. The Company places its temporary cash invéstments. with high credit quality

financial institutions and limits the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution. Concentrations of credit risk
with respect to-trade receivables are limited due to the large number of customers comprising the Company’s customer
base, and their dispersion across many dlfferent geographical regions.

Long-term investments (included W1th1n other assets in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets) are stated at fair

" value based on quoted market pnces

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

Periodically, the Company enters into interest rate swap agreements to manage interest expense related to its $120 million
revolving credit facility. Interest rate risk associated with the Company’s variable rate revolving credit facility is the potential
increase in interest expense from an increase in interest rates. A derivative instrument (e.g. interest rate swap agreement) that
hedges the variability of cash flows related to a recognized liability is designated as a cash flow hedge. The Company’s interest
rate swap agreements expired in fiscal 2002 and the Company did not enter into any interest rate swap agreements in fiscal

© 2004 or fiscal 2003. -

On an ongoing basis, the Company assesses whether derivative instruments used in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged items and therefore qualify as cash flow hedges. For a derivative

‘instrument that qualifies as a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of changes in fair value. of the derivative is deferred and

recorded as a component of other comprehensive income until the hedged transaction occurs and is recognized in earnings.
All other portions of changes in the fair value of a cash flow hedge are recognized in earnings immediately.

Product Warrantles

Product warranty liabilities are estimated at the time of shipment and recorded as a component of accrued expenses
and other current liabilities in the Company s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amount recogmzed is based on historical

_ claims cost expenence

" Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized on an accrual basis; primarily upon the shlpment of products and the rendering of services.
Revenue from certain fixed price contracts for which costs can be dependably estimated is recognized on the percentage-
of-completion method, measured by the percentage of costs incurred to date to estimated total costs for each contract. -
Revisions in cost estimates as contracts progress-have the effect of increasing or decreasing profits in the period of revision.
For fixed price contracts in which costs cannot be dependably estimated, revenue is recognized on the completed-contract -
method. A contract is considered complete when all costs except insignificant items have been incurred or the item has
been accepted by the customer. The aggregate effects of changes in estimates relatmg to inventories and/or long-term con-
tracts did not have a significant effect on net income or diluted net income per share in fiscal 2004, 2003 or 2002. Reveriues
earned from rendering services represented less than 10% of consolidated net sales for all periods presented.
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Long-term Contracts

Accounts receivable and accrued expenses and other current liabilities include amounts related to the production of
products under fixed-price contracts exceeding terms of one year. Revenues are recognized on the percentage-of-completion
method for certain of these contracts, meastired by the percentage of costs incurred to date to estimated total costs for each
contract. This method is used because management considers costs incurred to be the best available measure of progress
on these contracts. Revenues are recognized on the completed-contract method for certain other contracts. This method is
used when the Company does hot have adequate historical data to ensure that estimates are reasonably dependable.

Contract costs include all direct material and labor costs and those indirect costs related to contract performance, such
as indirect labor, supplies, tools, repairs, and depreciation costs. Selling, general and administrative costs are charged to
expense as incurred. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the period in which such losses
are determined. Variations in actual labor performance, changes to estimated profitability and final contract settlements may
result in revisions to cost estimates and are recognized in income in the period in which the revisions are determined.

The asset, “costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings” on uncompleted percentage-of-completion contracts,
included in accounts receivable, represents revenues recognized in excess of amounts billed. The liability, “billings in excess
of costs and estimated earnings,” included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities, represents. billings in excess of
revenues recognized on contracts accounted for under either the percentage-of-completion method or the completed-con-
tract method. Billings are made based on the completion of certain milestones as provided for in the contracts.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provxded on elements of income that are recogmzed for financial accounting purposes in
periods different from periods recogmzed for income tax purposes

’ Net Income Per Share

Basic net i mcome per share is computed by dividing net income by the wexghted average number of common shares
outstanding durmg the period. Diluted net income per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average
‘number of common shares outstanding during the period plus potentially dilutive common shares ansmg from the assumed
exercise of stock options, if dilutive. The d11utlve impact of potentlally dilutive common shares is determmed by applying the
treasury stock method. -

Stock Based Compensatlon

The Company accounts for stock- based employee compensatlon using the intrinsic value method Accordmgly,
compensation expense has been recorded in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for any stock options
granted below fair market value of the underlying stock as of the date of grant. The following table illustrates the pro
forma effects on net incomie and net income.per share as if the Company had applied the fair-value recognition provi-
sions (an alternative method) to stock-based employee compensation. The falr value of each option grant is estlmated
as of the date of grant using the Black- Scholes option-pricing model. :

For the year ended October 31, . , - 2004 2003 2002

Net income, as reported - : A S 20,630,000 S 12,222,000 § 15,226,000
“Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included ' ‘ )
in reported net income, net of related tax effects a . 2,000 “ - 3,000 38,000

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation’expense
determined under fair value method for all awards, _ ‘ o ' ,
net of related tax effects ' : ; (1,481,000) - (1,724,000) (3,883,000)

Pro forma net income . $19151.000 - $ 10,501,000 S 11,381,000

Net income per share: . »
.86 .53

Basic — as reported - s $ $ .66
Basic - pro forma $ 80 8 45 8 49
Diluted - as reported S 80 $° 50 S .62
Diluted - pro forma 8 J4 S 43 S 46
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. Contmgencnes

" Losses for contingencies such as product warrantles litigation and environmental matters are recogmzed in

‘income when they are probable and can be reasonably estimated. Gain contingenc:les are not recognized in income
" until they have been realized.” :

New Accounting Standards

* In December 2003, the FASB 1ssued FASB Interpretatlon No. 46(R) or FIN 46(R), “Consohdatlon of Variable
Interest Entities”. FIN 46(R) replaces FIN 46 and addresses consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest

. entities. This Interpretation shall be applied to var1ab1e interest entities or potential variable interest entities commonly
referred to as special-purpose entities by: the end-of the first reporting period ending after December 15, 2003 and

applied to all variable interest entities by the end of the first reporting period ending after March 15, 2004. The adop-

tion of FIN 46(R) did not have a-material effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial position. .

In Décember 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment”. This Statement revises FASB
Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees”. SFAS No. 123(R) focuses primarily on the accounting for transactions in which an entity
obtains employee services in share- based payment transactions.' SFAS No. 123(R) requires companies to recognize in
the statement of operations the cost of employee services received in exchange for awards of equity instruments based
on the grant-date fair value of those awards (with limited exceptlons) This Statement is effective as of the first report-
ing period that begins after June 15, 2005. Accordingly, the Company will adopt SFAS 123(R) in its fourth quarter of

fiscal 2005. The Company is currently evaluating the provisions of SFAS 123(R) and has not yet determmed the impact

that thlS Statement will have on its results of operations or financial position.-

NOTE 2. Acquisitions and Strategic Alliances

Acqmsntions

In November 2001 the Company, through a subs1d1ary, acquired certain assets and liabilities of Jetseal Inc.
(Jetseal). Jetseal is engaged in the manufacture of compresswn seals. In May 2003, the Company, through a subsidiary,
acquired substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Niacc Technology, Inc. (Niacc). Niacc is engaged in the repair

" and overhaul of aircraft components and accessofies principally serving the regional commuter and-business aircraft
- market. The’ Company paid the purchase prices of these acquisitions primarily by usmg proceeds from its revolvmg

credit facility.. . - ‘

In December 2003, the Company, through its HEICO Electronic Technologles Corp subsldlary, acquired an 80%
interest in the assets and business of Sierra Microwave Technology, Inc., (Sierra). Under the transaction, the Company
formed a new subsidiary, Sierra Microwave Technology, LLC (Sierra LLC), which acquired substantially all of the - '
assets and assumed certain liabilities of Sierra. The new subsidiary is owned 80% by the Company and 20% by certain
members of Sierra’s management group. The purchase price was paid in cash using proceeds from-the Company’s
revolving credit facﬂlty and with shares of HEICO'’s Class A Common Stock. Sierra LLC is engaged in the design and
manufacture of certain mche microwave components used in satellites and military products. As part of the agréement
to acquire an 80% interest in Sierra, the Company has the right to purchase the minority interests in approximately ten

© years, or sooner under certain conditions, and the minority holders have the right to cause the Company to purchase
. their interests commencing in approximately five years, or sooner under certain conditions.

All of the acquisitions described above were accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and the
results of each cdmpany were included in the Company’s results from their effective purchase dates. The purchase -
price of each acqu1s1t10n was not significant to the Company’s consolldated financial statements and the pro forma
consolidated operatlng results assuming each acquisition had been consummated as of the beginning of its respective
fiscal year would not have been materially dlfferent from the reported results. The costs of each acquisition have been
allocated to the tangible and identifiable 1ntang1ble assets acquired and 11ab111t1es assumed based on their estimated fair

values as of the date of acquisition as determined by management. The excess of the purchase price over the net of the -
amounts assigned to assets acqulred and liabilities assumed has been recorded as goodwill (See Note 18, Supplemental

Disclosures of Cash Flow Information, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) The aggregate cost of
acquisitions, including payments made i in cash and with shares of the Company’s common stock and: contlngent pay-
ments, was $31.1 million, $1 6 million and $4.5 milhon in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 respect1ve1y

i
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Strategic Alliances and Sale of Minority lnterests in Consohdated Subsndlanes

In October 1997, the Company entered into a strategic alliance wrth Lufthansa Technik AG, the technical services
subsidiary of Lufthansa German Airlines, whereby Lufthansa Technik invested approximately $26 million in HEICO
Aerospace, including $10-million paid at closing pursuant to a‘stock purchase agreement and approximately $16 million
paid over four years to HEICO Aerospace pursuant to.a research and development cooperation agreement, which has
partially funded the accelerated development of additional Federal Aviation Administration (FAA)-approved replace-
ment parts for jet engines and aircraft components. The funds received as a result of the research and development
cooperation agreement reduced research and development expenses in the periods such expenses were incurred. In
addition, Lufthansa Technik and HEICO Aerospace have agreed to cooperate regarding technical services and market-
ing support for jet engine and aircraft component replacerment parts on a worldwide basis. In connection with subse-

~ quent acquisitions by HEICO Aerospace, Lufthansa Technik invested addxtlonal amounts aggregatmg to approximately

$21 million pursuant to its option to maintain a 20%, equrty interest.

In March 2001, the Company entered into, a joint Venture with AMR Corporation to develop, des1gn and sell FAA-
approved jet engine and aircraft component replacement parts through HEICO Aerospace. As part of the joint venture,

AMR Corporation will reimburse HEICO Aerospace a portion of new product research-and development costs. The funds .

received as a result of the new produict research and development costs paid by AMR Corporation generally reduce new
product research and development expenses in the period such-expenses are incurred. The balance of the development .

-costs are incurred by the joint venture, which is 16% owned by AMR Corporation. In addition, AMR Corporatlon and

HEICQ Aerospace have agreed to cooperate regardmg technical serv1ces and marketing support on a worldwide basis.

"NOTE 3. Sale of Product. L|ne

In September 2000, the Company consummated the sale of all of the outstandmg capltal stock of HEICO

* Electronic’s wholly-owned subsidiary, T rilectron Industnes Iné. (Trilectron), to a subsidiary of Illinois Tool Works Inc.

The sale of Trilectron resulted in'a pretax gain in fiscal 2000 of 317 296,000 (810,542,000 or $.44 per diluted share, net
of income tax), In ﬁscal 2002, the Company recogmzed an additional pretax gain of $1,230,000 ($765,000 or $.03 per
diluted share net of income tax) on the sale of the Tnlectron product line due to the elimination of certain reserves -
upon the expu‘atlon of mdemmﬁcatlon provisions entered mto in connectlon with the sale of Trilectron.

‘NOTE 4, Selected‘FinanciaI Statement Information

Accounts Receivable , o . :
As of October 31, . o : o 2004 2003

Accounts receivable o o o $ 37,380,000 $ 29,455,000 -
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts . o - ‘ , . (582,000) (635,000) -

Accounts receivable, net o R $ 36,798,000 T $ 28,820,000

In fiscal 2002, the Company wrote off recelvables aggregatmg $813, OOO as a result of bankruptcy ﬁlmgs by certain
customers. The charge is included in selling, general and administrative expenses ih the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Operations. The charge reduced fiscal 2002 net income by 3442 000. Write offs of receivables did not have a
matenal effect on net income in fiscal 2004 or ﬁscal 2003 : ‘ :
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Costs and Estimated Earnings on Uncompleted Percentage-of-Completion Cohtracts v
As of October 31, - B o o 2004 - 2003
Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts , ‘ $ 14,798,000 $ 9,635,000
Estimated earnings ' . ‘ - 8,686,000 7,861,000
) ' 23,484,000 17,496,000
Less: Billings to date (19,663,000) (15,223,000)
L ‘ $ 3,821,000 $ 2,273,000
Included in accompanying consolidated balance ’
sheets under the following captions: ‘
Accounts xjeceivable, net (costs and estimated: o ’
’ ~earnings in excess of billings) ‘ S 4,612,000 S 3,520,000
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities - ‘ '
(billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings) ' (791,000) (1,247,000)
- ' ' $ 3,821,000 $ 2,273,000

Changes in estimates did not have a material effect on net i income or diluted net income per share in fiscal 2004 2003

or 2002.

Inventories o ,

As of October 31, - ‘ . : : . 2004 2003

Finished products . ' , ' "8 24,222,000 $28,958,000

Work in process : ‘ S ‘ - 9,597,000 9,333,000

Materials, parts, assemblies and supphes s -14,201,000 12,949,000

Total inventeries Co $ 48,020,000 851,240,000 -
' Inventories related to long term contracts were not significant as of October 31, 2004 and 2003.

Property Plant and Equzpment _ , .

As of October 31, . ' | 2004 . 2003

Land . S $ 2,157,000 $ 1,750,000

Buildings and improvements a ’ 20,007,000 18,981,000

Machmery, equipment and toolmg : ) : - 95,869,000 50,949,000

Construction i in progress Co _ ' 2,239,000 1,623,000
o ‘ o ' o 80,272,000 73,303,000

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (39,714,000) - (33,520,000)

' $39,783,000

Property; plant and equipment, net - $ 40,558,000

The amounts set forth above include tooling costs having a net book value of $3,652,000 and $4,246,000 as of October
31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Amortization expense on capitalized tooling was $1,484,000, $1,639,000 and $1,435,000 for -
the fiscal years ended October 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Expenditures for capitalized tooling costs were

$955,000, $952,0001and $2,485,000 in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization expense, exclusive of tooling, on property, plant and equipment, amounted to approxi-
mately $4,841,000, 84,659,000 and $4,193,000 for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Included in the Company’s property, plant and equlprnent is rotable equipment located at various customer Iocanns in

connection with certain repair and maintenance agreements. The rotables are stated at a net book value of $3,781, 000 and-
$3,912,000 as of October 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Under the terms of the agreements, the customers may purchase
the equipment at spec1ﬁed prices, which are no less than net book value, upon termination of the agreements The equlp-
ment is currently bemg depreciated over its estimated life..
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" In fiscal 2003, the Company consolidated the operations of two of its Florida-based owned facilities utilized by its Flight )
Support Group. The Company listed the resultant vacated property for sale with a real estate agent and reclassified the
building and associated land as held for sale. The carrying value of the property is $3,468,000 and is included within other
assets in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. .

,Accrued Expenses and Ot‘her'Current Liabilities ' ‘ : ,
As of October 31, ’ e ' 2004 ' 2003

Accrued customer rebates and credits - . o S 5,961,000 $ 5,008,000
Accrued émpioyee compensation and related payroll taxes ‘ : . 9,105,000 4,079,000
Billings in excess of costs and ‘estimated earnings on . . ' . o
uncompleted percentage-of- complehon contracts o N ’ 791,000 - 1,247,000
Other = - : o - ' S 4,387,000 4,028,000
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities - . ' § 20,244,000 . S 14,362,000

Other non-current liabilities include deferred compensation of $5,216,000 and $5,075,000 as of October 31, 2004
and 2003, respectively, principally related to elective deferrals of salary and bonuses under a Company sponsored non-
qualified deferred compensation plan available to selected employees. The Company makes no contributions to this
plan. The assets of this plan related to this deferred compensation liability are held within an irrevocable trust and
classified within other assets (loﬁg-term) in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets:

NOTE 5. Goodwill and Other Intanglble Assets

The Company has two operating segments: the Flight Support Group (FSG) and the Electronic Technologies Group
(ETG). Changes in the carrymg amount of goodwﬂi durmg fiscal 2004 and 2003 by operating segment are as follows:

Segment Consolidated
. o FSG - ETG Totals

Balances as of October 31, 2002 " : ©§ 118,706,000 $ . 68,971,000 - S 187,677,000
Goodwill acquired e Lo - 400,000 - - _ 400,000
Adjustments to goodwill ' ' o : 623,000, ) C— 623,000
Balances as of October 31, 2003 . - o '119,729,000 o 68‘,971',000 » 188,700,000
Goodwill acquired 3 o R = 27,349,000 27,349,000
Adjustments to goodwill ) . . ) . 559,000 66,000 625,000

Balances as of Octobér 31, 2004 ‘ § 120,288,000 S 96,386,000 $ 216,674,000

The goodw1]l acquired durmg fiscal 2004 is a result of the Company’s acquisition, through a subsidiary, of an 80%
interest in the assets and business of Sierra in December 2003 (see Note 2, Acquisitions and Strategic Alliances, of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). Adjustments to goodwill consist primarily of additional purchase price
‘payments and contingent purchase price payments to previous owners of acquired businesses. '

Other intangible assets are recorded within other assets in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets Other

intangible assets subject to amortization consist primarily of licenses, patents, and non-compete covenants. The gross
" carrying amount of other intangible assets was $1,448, 000 and $1,420,000 as of October 31, 2004 and 2003, respec-

tively. Accumulated amortization of other intangible assets was $259,000 and $147,000 as of October 31, 2004 and .

2003, respectively. Amortization expense of other intangible assets was $112;000, 398,000 and $104,000 for the fiscal

years ended October 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Amortization expense for each of the next five fiscal years

is expected to be $113,000 i 1n ﬁscal 2005, $113,000 in ﬁscal 2006, $113,000 in fiscal 2007, $112,000 in fiscal 2008, and
$97,000 in fiscal 2009. .
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NOTE 6. Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt consists of ‘ o - i
As of October 31, - 3 : : ‘ S 2004 . 2003
Borrowings under revolving credit facility . ‘ o . $ 16,000,000 $ 30,000,000
Industrial Development Revenue Refundmg « - : ‘ ‘ .
Bonds - Series 1988 . , ' , 1,980,000 S 1,980,000
Capital leases and .equipment loans S : ‘ 149,000 33,000
D o 118,129,000 32,013,000
“Less: Current maturities of long-term debt . ‘ (58,000) (29,000).
o - $ 1_8,071,000 $ - ‘31,984,000

" The aggregate amount of long term debt maturing by ﬁscal year is"$58,000 in’ ﬁscal 2005 $58, 000 in ﬁscal 2006, .
$16, 033,000 in fiscal 2007 and $1, 980 000 in fiscal 2008 ’

Revolving Credit Facnllty
In April 2004, the Company extended the term of 1ts 8120 m11hon revolvmg credit agreement with a bank syndlcate

_ by one year to May 2007. The revolving credit facility may be used for working cap1ta1 and general corporate needs of

the Company, including letters of credit, and to finance acquisitions (generally not in excess of an aggregate total of

’ $30 million‘évér any trailing twelve-month period without the requisite approval of the bank syndicate). The Company
- can extend the revolving credit term for an additional one-year period subject to requisite bank syndicate approval.,

Advances under the revolving credit facility accrue interest at the Company’s choice of the London Interbank Offered-
Rate (LIBOR) or the “Base Rate” plus applicable margins (based on the Compaﬂy’s ratio of total funded debt to earn-
ings before interest, taxes, depreciation and‘amortization, or “leverage ratio”). The Base Rate is the higher of (i) the
Prime Rate or (ii) the Federal Funds rate plus .50%. The applicable margins range from 1.00% to.2.25% for LIBOR based
borrowings and from .00% to .75% for Base Rate based borrowings: A fee is charged on the amount of the unused com-

" mitment ranging from .25% to .50% (dependmg on the leverage ratio of the Company). The revolving credit fac111ty is

secured by substantially all assets other than real property of the Company and its subsidiaries ‘and contains covenants

. which require, among other thmgs the mamtenance of the leverage ratio and a fixed charge coverage ratlo as well as

minimum net worth requirements. .

‘As of October 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had a total of $16 million and S30 m11110n respectlvely, borrowed
under its $120 million revolving credit facility at weighted average interest rates of 2.9% and 2.6%, respectively. The -
amounts were primarily borrowed to partially fund acquisitions (see Note 2, Acqulsmons and Strateglc Alliances, of the
Notes to Consohdated Financial Statements)

Industrial Development Revenue Bonds

. The industrial development revenue bonds outstandmg as of October 31, 2004 represent bonds issued by Broward
County; Florida in 1988 (the 1988 bonds). The 1988 bonds are due April 2008 and bear interest at a variable rate calcu-
lated weekly (1.8%.and 1.2% as of October 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively). The 1988 bonds as amended are secured by

! $2.0 million letter-of credit explrlng April 2008 and a mortgage on the related properties pledged as collateral.

NOTE 7. Income Taxes

The prowsxon fori income taxes'on income before income taxes and mmonty interests for each of the three ﬁscal years
ended October 31 is as follows :

2004 - . 2003 : 2002
rCurrent: ‘ : ‘ N
" Federal - T $ 6088000 ' $ 3908000 $ 849,000
State D - o , 735,000 C 444,000 S 164,000
o | . S - 6,823,000 © 43520000 - 1,013,000
Deferred 5 o 4,125,000 3,520,000 3,917,000

Total income tax expense - . . S $ 10,948,000 $ 7,872,000 $ 4,930,000
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In fiscal 2002, a tax audit of the Company’s fiscal 1998 and fiscal 1999 income tax returns was completed by the
Internal Revenue Service that resulted i in the recovery of a portion of income taxes paid in prior years. The recovery‘
was based on'a settlement reached with the Internal Revenue Service under which a portion of the reimbursements
" received pursuant to a research'and development cooperation agreement was treated as shareholder reimburse-
ments excluded from taxable income. The recovery, net of expenses: (including related professronal fees and interest),
increased net income in fiscal 2002 by $2.1 million. :

The following table reconciles the federal statutory tax rate to the Company S effective tax rate for each of the
three ﬁscal years ended October 31: ‘

- . 2004 2003 2002

Federal statutory tax rate o ‘ : N ' 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State taxes, less applicable federal income tax reduction " L .22 2.5 ' 28
Net tax benefit related to non-taxable life insurance proceeds N o 4.8)° : — . —
Net tax benefit on export sales - . (2.3) {2.3) 2.7
Net tax benefit (habihty) on mmonty interest’s share of income o : 9 C 4 0
Recovery of taxes paid in prior years resultmg from tax audit A — o — (11.6)
Other, net , , L 7 — . -(1.0)

Effective tax rate ‘ e . 299% 35.6% 23.0% -

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes Significant components -
of the Company s deferred tax assets and habihties are as follows: '

As.of October 31, ‘ : o S - o 2004 2003

Deferred tax assets: ' ‘ . o ' : ,
‘Inventories = - o $ 3,744,000 . - $ 2,770,000
Déferred compensation habihty S ' : 2,096,000 2,034,000
Capitalized research and development expenses ‘ ' ‘ 709,000 897,000
Customer rebates accruals . o ' 1 » ‘ 623,000 . 346,000
Other : ‘ o S 1,827,000 - 1,381,000

Total deferred tax assets - I o o 8,999,000 ° : V7,428,(‘)00_

Deferred tax liabilities:

15,545,000 - 10,841,000

Intangible asset amortization
Accelerated deprecration 3,966,000 2,974,000 -
Other . 78,000 . 78,000
Total deferred tax liabilities 19,589,000 " 13,893,000
* Net deferred tax liability‘ $ (10,590,000) $ (6,465,000
The net deferred tax habihty is class1ﬁed on the balance sheet as follows N
As of October 31, ‘ 2004 2003
Current asset ] § 5,672,000 - $ 3,872,000
Long-term liability . (16,262,0000 (10,337,000)
- Net deferred tax liability $.(10,590,000) $ (6,465,000)

A deferred tax charge of 8144 000 relating to an unrealized gain on an 1nterest rate swap was recorded as an

adjustment to shareholders’ equity in fiscal 2002.

No deferred tax assets or liabilities were assumed in connection w1th the Company’s acqulsmons in fiscal 2004

2003 or 2002
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NOTE 8. Shareholders’ Equity

Preferred Stock Purchase Rights Plan : :

The Company's Board of Directors adopted, as of November 2, 2003, a new Shareholder nghts Agreement (the “2003
Plan”) to replace the expiring one (the “1993 Plan”). Pursuant to the 2003 Plan, the Board declared a dividend of one pre-
ferred share purchase right for each outstanding share of Common Stock and Class A Common Stock (with the preferred
share purchase rights collectively as “the Rights”). The Rights trade with the common stock and are not exercisable or
tra.nsferable apart from the Common Stock and Class A Common Stock until after a person or group either acquires 15%

' or more of the outstanding common stock or commences or announces an intention to commence a tender o r 15% or
f the outstanding tock tention t tender offer for 15%

more of the outstanding common stock. Absent either of the aforementioned events transpmng, the Rights will explre asof .
the close of business on November 2, 2013.

The Rights have certain anti-takeover effects and, therefore, will cause substantial dilution to a person or group who
attempts to acquire the, Company on terms not approved by the Company’s Board of Directors or who acquires 15% or more
of the outstanding common stock without approval of the Company’s Board of Directors. The Rights should not interfere
with any merger or other business combination approved by the Board since they may be redeemed by the Company at $.01
per Right at any time until the close of business on the tenth day after a person or group has obtained beneficial ownership
of 15% or more of the outstandmg common stock or until a person commences or announces an intention to commence a
tender offer for 15% or more of the outstanding common stock. The 2003 Plan also contains a prov1510n to help ensure a
potential acquiror pays all shareholders a farr prrce for the Company. '

Common Stock and Class A Common Stock :

Each share of Common Stock is entitled to one vote per share. Each-share of Class A Common Stock is entitled to a
1/10 vote per share. Holders of the Company’s Common Stock and Class A Common Stock are entitled to receive when, as
and if déclared by the Board of Directors, dividends and other distributions payable in cash, property, stock, or otherwise.
In the event of liquidation, after payment of debts and other liabilities of the Company, and after making provision for the
holders of preferred stock, if any, the remaining assets of the Company will be distributable ratably among the holders of all
classes of common stock. ‘

Share Repurchases

In accordance vsnth the Company’s share repurchase program, 22,000 shares of Class A Common Stock were repur-
chased at a total cost of $120,000 in fiscal 2003 and 36,300 shares of Class A Common Stock were repurchased at a total cost

. of $200,000 in fiscal 2002. No shares were repurchased in fiscal 2004.

Stock Dividend

In January 2004, the Company pald a 10% stock d1v1dend on both classes of common stock outstandmg with shares of .
Class A Common Stock. The 10% dividend was valued based on the closing market. price of the Company’s Class A Common
Stock as of the day prior to the declaration date. All net income per share, dividend per share, price and other data per share,
exercise price, stock option, and common share data has been adjusted retroactively to give effect to the stock dividend. '
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NOTE 9. Stock Ophons

The Company currently has two stock optlon plans, the 2002 Stock Optlon Plan (2002 Plan) and the Non-Qualified
Stock Option Plan under which stock optmns may be granted. “The Company’s 1993 Stock Option Plan (1993 Plan) terminat-
ed in March 2003 on the tenth anniversary of its effective date. No options may be granted under the 1993 Plan after such
termination date; however, options outstanding as of the termination date may be exercised pursuant to their terms. In addi-
tion, the Company granted stock options to two former shareholders of an acquired business pursuant to employment agree-
ments entered into in connection with the acquisition in fiscal 1999. A total of 4,192,570 shares of the Company’s stock are
reserved for issuance to employees, directors, officers, and consultants as of October 31, 2004, including 4,035,267 shares .
currently under option and 157,303 shares available for future granrs. Options issuéd under the 2002 Plan may be designated
as incentive stock options or non-qualified stock options. Incentive stock options are granted at not less than 100% of the fair
market value as of date of grant (110% thereof in certain cases).and are exercisable in percentages specified as of the date
of grant over a period up to ten years. Only employees are eligible to receive incentive stock options. Non-qualified stock
options under the 2002 Plan may be granted at less than fair market value and may be immediately exercisable. Options
granted under the Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan may be granted at no less than the fair market value as of the date of
grant and are generally exercisable in four equal annual installments commencing one year from the date of grant. The
options granted pursuant to the 2002 Plan may be with respect to Common Stock and/or Class A Common Stock, in such
proportions as shall be determined by the Board of Directors or the Stock Option Plan Committee in its sole discretion. The
stock options granted to two former shareholders of SBIR were fully vested and transferable as of the grant date and expire

" ten years from the date of grant. The exercise price of such options was the fair market x;alue as of the date of grant. Options

under all stock option plans expire not later than ten years after the date of grant, unless extended by the Stock Option Plan
Committee or the Board of Directors.

Informatlon concernmg ‘stock optlon act1v1ty for each of the three fiscal years ended October 31 is as follows:

‘Shares ‘ Shares Under Option
Available ) . Weighted Average
. . . For Grant - Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding as of October 31, 2001 . ST 213,453 4,567,501 S 824
~ Shares approved by Board of Directors for grantto ‘ :

former shareholders of an acquired business -+ . 275,000 R R
Shares approved by the Shareholders for the o . .

2002 Stock Option Plan IR . - 572,000 — —
Granted : ‘ - o . ‘ ©(770,990) . 770,990 § 9.74
Cancelled ' . . T 49,128 (306,839) - $ 13.75
Exercised - - — (165,151) 8265
Outstanding as of October 31 2002 . : - 338,591 4,866,501 § 831
Granted : - ‘ L (503,250) . 503,250 § 7.20
Cancelled . : , o 7 331,082 (334,749). 0§ 1310 -
Exercised o . — . (586,327) $ 230
Outstanding as of October 31, 2003 R D 166,423 - 4,448,675 S 862
Granted , _ ‘ (10,000) 10,000 $ 13.19
Cancelled ' z : - 880 (20,332) $ 12.26

- Exercised : ° , — (403,076): § 275
$.9.20

Outstanding as of October 31, 2004 . . : 157,303 4,035,267
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Informatlon concerning stock options outstandmg and stock options exerc1sable by class of common stock as of
October 31, 2004 is as follows

Common Stock

. Options Qutstanding s : T - Options Exercisable
. ; ' Weighted - : .. Weighted Average . Weighted’
~ "Range of Number .~ Average . Remaining . Number . Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding © - Exercise Price’ - Contractual Life (Years): - Exercisable Exercise Price
$ 116-$ 290 . 160,010 v 8 172 0.1 - - .160,010 : S 1:72
§ 291-8§ 7.00 . 358,903 S 4.55 . 1.6 o ‘ 358,903 $ 455
$ 7.01-812.00 703,275 S 904 . i 64 T 447274 § 946
$12:01-$21.92 502,751 $ 1455 6.2 .- 350,750 $ 14.75
‘ 1!7245939 - 8 9.03 S '_4.7 ) . ~153162937 8 ’ 8.59
Class A Common Stock ,
’ ‘ -Options Outstanding . 3 ‘ Options Exercisable
- ‘Weighted \ . Weighted Average T ] Weighted
Range of -Number Average Remaining Number Average
Exercise Prices . Qutstanding Exercise Price Contractual Life (Years) Exercisable | Exercise Price
§ 1.16-$ 2.90 - 209,277 S 1.66 bv 01 : 209,277 $ 166
$291-$ 700 . 470,061 - $ 490 - 34 362,261 s 47
©$ 7.01-$1200 - 926,097 $ 866 .61 - . 7183579 S 848
$12.01- $21.92 - © 704,893 $ 1543 - . 53 . 608,480 . $ 1580
: 253105328' ‘ S 933 ¢ ‘ A 4.8 P 15893!597 ‘ $ 936

" If there were a change in control of the.Company, options outstandmg for an addltlonal 307 414 shares of Comrnon
Stock and 384,894 shares of Class A Common Stock would become immediately exercisable.

The estimated wexghted average fair value of OpthIlS granted was $6.16 per share for Class A Common Stock in fiscal
2004, $4 64 per share for Common Sfock and $3.55 per share for Class A Common Stock in fiscal 2003 and $7.30 per share
for Common Stock and $5.35 per share for Class. A Common Stock in ﬁscal 2002. There were no grants of Common Stock
options in fiscal 2004. ‘ :

The fair value of each option g'rant was estimated on the date of gfant using the Black—Scholes option-pric'mg model
based on the following weighted average assumptions for each of the three fiscal years ended October 31: :

2004 2003 2002

Class A Class A o Class A
"Common . Common Common . Common ' Common Common
) : » . Stock - - ‘Stock Stock . Stock Stock " Stock
Expected stock price volatility = 46.87% 52.65% 52.24% - 53.61% 52.87%
Risk free interest rate ‘ — - 3.28% 1 337% . - 3.43% T 451% 4.12%
Dividend yield - . L = _' .38% 26% 0 .0 .33% . 25% 0 - .32%

Expected option lifé (years) — ) - 8 . 8 8 - 8
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" 'NOTE 10. Retirement Plans

The Company has a qualiﬁed defined cOntribution retirement plan (the Plan) under which eligible employees
of the Company and its participating subsidiaries may'contribute up to-15% of their annual compensation as defined
by the Plan. The Company generally contributes a 25% or 50% matchmg contr1but1on as determined by the Board of
Directors, based on a participant’s Elective Deferral Contribution up to 6% of the Participant’s compensation for the
Elective Deferral Contribution period. The match is made in the Company s common stock or cash, as determined by
. the Company. Effective January 2002, the Company’s match of employee contributions paid in common stock is based
- on the fair market value of the shares at the date of contr1butlon Prior to January 2002, the Company made matchmg ‘
contributions through the promissory note discussed below. The Plan also provides that the Company may contribute
additional amounts in its common stock or cash at the discretion of the Board of Dlrectors Employee contributions
can not be invested in Company stock.

In 1992, the Company sold 987,699 shares of the Company’s Common Stock and 984,242 shares of Class A
-~ Common Stock to the Plan for an aggregate price of '$4,122,000 entirely financed through a promissory note with the
Company. The promissory note was payable in nine equal annual installments,vinclusive of principal and interest at the
rate of 8% per annurh, with a final installment due in September. 2002. The promissory note was fully paid off effective
December 2001. As the Plan accrued each payment of principal, an appropriate percentage of stock was allocated to eli-
gible employees’ accounts in accordance with applicable regulations under the Internal Revenue Code. The unallocated.
shares of stock collateralized the 1992 promissory note. The per share cost to the Plan for the 1992 stock sale ($2.09
per share) was determined based on the average closing market price of the Company’s stock on the twenty business
- days prior to the effective date of the sale. In accordance with the provisions of the Plan, the Company was obligated to
make cash contributions in amounts sufficient to meet the debt service requirements on the promissory note. Principal
.amounts repaid on the promissory note were determined based on the value of the shares released during the preced-
" ing twelve months but could not be less than the minimum annual installments required. Dividends on allocated shares
were issued to part1c1pants accounts. D1v1dends on unallocated shares were. held in the Plan and could be used to
make note payments. .

Participants. receive 100% vestmg in'employee contr1butlons Vestmg in Company contrlbutlons is based on a par-.
ticipant’s number of years of vesting service. COIltI‘lbuthIIS to the Plan charged to income in fiscal 2004, 2003, and 2002
totaled $189,000, $403,000 and $691,000, respectively, exclusive of interest income earned on the note received from
the Plan of $9,000 in fiscal 2002. The decline in charges to income results principally from the use of forfeited shares
within the Plan to make Company contributions. As of October 31, 2004, the Plan held approximately 276 188 forfeited
shares of Common Stock and 269, 866 forfe1ted shares of Class A Common Stock wh1ch are available to make future
Company contributions. ) . ' . ‘ ‘

In 1991, the Company established a Dlrectors Retirement Plan covering its then current directors. The net assets

“of this plan as of October 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 are not material to the financial position of the Company. During fis-
cal 2004, 2003, and 2002, 888,000‘, $34,000_ and $34,000‘, respectively, were expensed for this plan.

" NOTE 11. Research And Development Expenses B

Cost of sales amounts in fiscal 2004 2003, and 2002 mclude apprommately 810, 446 000, $9,224,000 and $9,742,000,
respectively, of new product research and development expenses. The expenses are net of reimbursements pursuant to -
research and development cooperation and joint venture agreements (see Note 2, Acquisitions and Strategic Alliances, of the
Notes to Consohdated Financial Statements) Such relmbursements were not s1gn1ﬁcant in ﬁscal 2004, 2003 and 2002.
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NOTE 12. Restructuring Expenses

In fiscal 2004, the Company incurred $850,000 of restructuring expenses within certain subsidiaries of the Flight
Support Group that provide repair and overhaul services (“repair and overhaul subsidiaries”). The unexpected death
of an executive of certain of the repair and overhaul subsidiaries (see Note 13, Life Insurance Proceeds, of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements below) was the impe_tué for the commencement of the restructuring activities, which the

. Company believes will allow it to better service its customers and improve operating margins. The restructuring expenses

include $350,000 of inventory write-downs, which were recorded within cost of sales in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations, and $261,000 of management hiring/relocation related expenses, $168,000 of moving costs and
other associated expenses and $71,000 of contract termination costs that were all recorded within selling, general and
administrative expenses. The inventory written down is related to older generation aircraft for which repair and overhaul .
services are bemg discontinued by the Company The management hmng/ relocation related expenses include one-time
employee termination/hiring benefits and relocation costs. The moving costs and other associated expenses consist of mov-
ing costs related to the consolidation of two repair and .overhaul facilities. Contract termination costs include the lease termi-
nation on a facility. The repair and overhaul subsidiaries’ restructuring expenses decreased net income (after income taxes

* and the minority interest’s share of the expenses) in fiscal 2004 by $427,000.

The following table summarizes the restructuring expenses and associated accrual, the latter Wthh is 1ncluded
within accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the Company s Consolidated Balance Sheets

1

Manageme‘nt ‘ . Moving
Hiring/ - Costs and .

_ * Relocation Other Contract

Inventory Related Associated Termination

Write-downs Expenses - = Expenses Costs: Totals
Balances as of November 1, 2003 - S — $ — S — 'S —
Restructuring expenées T 350,000 261,000 - 168,000 71,000 850,000
Cash payments o L= © (197,000) (57,0000 — (254,000)
Non-cash amount : ‘ (350,000 - — = — (350,000) -
Balances as of October 31, 2004 $ — -$ 64,000 $ 111,000 $ 71,000  $ 246,000

NOTE 13; Life Insurance Proceeds

" In July 2004, the Company received $5.0 million in proceeds from the death benefit of a key-person life insurance policy
maintainied by a subsidiary of the Flight Support Group that provides repair and overhaul services. The life insurance pro-
ceeds, which are non-taxable, increased fiscal 2004 net income (after the mmorlty mterest’s share of the income) by $4.0
million, or $.16 per dxluted share. :

NOTE 14. Net Income Per Share

The following table sets forth the computatlon of basic and dlluted net income per share for each of the three fiscal -
years ended October 31:

2004 2003 © 2002
Numerator: - . o . : ' ‘ . .
Net income $ 20,630,000 - § 12,222,000 $ 15,226,000
Denominator: .+ : - . - , '
Weighted average common shares outstandmg basic ' 24,036,980 23,236,841 ° 23,003,784
v Effect of dilutive stock options N 1,717,618 1,294,439 - 1,728,895
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted 25,754,598 24,531,280 24,732,679
Net income per share - basic : ' B $ - 8 "8 53 . § 66 -
Net income per share — diluted : s .80 8 .50 8 62
Anti-dilutive stock options excluded . ) - 579,837 2,144,694 1,431,_543
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NOTE 15. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

' ~ First - Second : Third Fourth
Quarter - - . Quarter Quarter . Quarter
Net sales: : o ’ ' '
2004 ; v $ 46,151,000 S 52,793,000 $ 55,820,000 $ 60,980,000
2003 41,788,000 : - 41,591,000 45,412,000 47,662,000
2002 - . 41,012,000 - 43,001,000 . 42,587,000 ' 45,512,000
Gross profit: ' . ‘ L : o
2004 _ © 15,536,000 ’ 18,714,000 . . 19,616,000 21,946,000
2003 - . 13,776,000 " 13,901,000 . ‘ 15,136,000 15,291,000
2002 - . 14,850,000 o 15,359,000 ' 14,936,000 16,357,000
Net income: ' g o : - : ‘
2004 ’ ' 3,241,000 4,108,000 - - 8115000 - 5,166,000
2003 2,834,000 - " 2,608,000 ‘3,240,000 . 3,540,000
2002 ' 2,828,000 3,970,000 - | 2,829,000 5,599,000
Net income per share: .
~ Basic ) o . '
2004 s 14 o S Y ‘ $ M $ 21
2003 , 12 T 4 . 15
2002 , a1z 17 ' 12 o2
Diluted _ . & o ‘ : _ :
2004 . 13 ' 16 : 32 20
2003 ‘ - 12 11 13 ’ 14
2002 ' ‘ 11 oo .16 : 11 23

During the third quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company received $5.0 million in life insurance proceeds as referenced in
Note 13, Life Insurance Proceeds, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, which increased net income (after the
minority interest’s share of the income) by $4.0 million, or $.16 per diluted share. .

During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2004, the Company incurred restructuring expenses within certain
subsidiaries of its Flight Support Group as referenced in Note 12, Restructuring Expenses, of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements. In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, restructuring expenses decreased gross profit by $350,000 and net
income by $301,000. During the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2004, the Company incurred legal and other costs related
to litigation brought by a subsidiary of the Electronic Technologies Group as referenced in Note 17, Commitments and
Contingencies-Litigation, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, the litigation-
related expenses decreased net income by $148,000. The net impact of the restructuring expenses and the litigation-related
expenses in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 was not- 51gn1ﬁcant

Net income in the second quarter of fiscal 2002 includes an additional gain on the sale of Trllectron as referenced in
Note 3, Sale of Product Line, of the Notes to Consohdated Financial Statements. The impact of the gain was an increase to
net income of $765,000. . v
Net income in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002 includes the recovery of a portion of taxes paid in prior years resulﬁng
from a tax audit as referenced in Note 7, Income Taxes, of the Notes to Consohdated Fmanc1a1 Statements The impact of
* the recovery was an increase to net i income of $2, 107 000. :

Due to changes in the average number of common shares outstandmg, net income per share for the full ﬁscal year may
not equal the sum of the four individual quarters. .

&l
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NOTE 16. Operatmg gments

" mance based on segment operatmg income.

The Company has two operating segments the Flight Support Group (FSG) consisting of HEICO Aerospace and its
subsrdlarles and the Electronic Technologies Group‘(E’I‘ G), consrstm_g of HEICO Electronic and its subsmhanes. See Note 1,
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a list of operating subsid-

 iaries aggregatediin each reportable operating segment. The Flight Support Group designs and manufactures FAA-approved

jet engine and aircraft component replacement parts, provides FAA-authorized repair and overhaul services and provides -
subcontractmg services to original equipment manufacturers in the aviation industry and the U.S. Government. The
Electronic Technologies Group designs and manufactures commercial and military power supplies, circuit board shielding,
laser and electro-optical products and infrared simulation and test equipment and repairs and overhauls aircraft electronlc
equrpment primarily for the aerospace, defense, space, and electronics industries. ,

The Company’s reportable business divisions offer distinctive products and services that are marketed through dlffer-
ent channels. They are managed separately because of their unique technology and service requirements.

Segment Profit or Loss

- The accountmg policies of the Company’s’ operatmg segments are the same as those described i in Note 1, Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Management evaluates segment perfor-

o ) o Primarily
Segment S " Corporate and Consolidated
. FSG . BG o Intersegment - Totals .
For the year ended October 31; 2004 : R ' R ‘ ’ ‘ N
Net sales ‘ $ . 153,238,000 $ 62,648,000 = § - (142,000) - $ 215,744,000
Deprecmtlon and amortlzatlon : * 4,580,000 1,762,000 437,000 6,779,000 .
Operating income o © - 24251,0000 . 15,259,0000). ‘ (6,891,000) - 32,619,000
. Total assets 4 . 212615000 136,860,000 14,780,000 364,255,000
- Capital expenditures S 3,964,000 1,767,000 6,000 5,737,000 -
For the 'year ended October 31, 2003: S . :
Net sales = , : 8 128,277,000 - $ 48,597,000 $  (421,0000 $ 176,453,000
Depreciation and -amortization ‘ . 4,895,000 1,399,000 426,000 6,720,000
~ Operating income , ‘ - 19,187,000 . 8,497,000 " (4,479,000) 23,205,000
Total assets . E o 214,292,000 » 103,798,000 - - 15,154,000 '333,244,000
‘Capital expenditures . 2,102,000 2,617,000 4,000 4,723,000
For the year 'end‘ed October 31, 2002: , - c ‘ . _ .
Net sales - - - § - 120,097,000. $ 52,510,000 § © (4950000 © S 172,112,000
" Depreciation and amortization - " ) 4,4'47,000' : 1,213,000 - 307,000 ‘ 5,967,000
Operating income ‘ - 15,846,000 11,873,000 (6,319,000) . 22,400,000
Total assets -~ , ‘ 219,903,000 - 103,260,000 13,169,000 © 336,332,000 °
Capital expenditures - . 5,568,000 ‘ 1,969,000 - 801,000 8,338,000 -

(a) Includes $850,000 of restructuring expenses (see, Note 12, Restmcturlng Expenses, of the Notes to Consohdated Financial Statements).
(b) Includes $410,000 of litigation-related expenses (see Note 17, Comm\tments and Contmgenmes - Litigation of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements). . .

Major Customer and Geographic Information
‘No one customer accounted for 10 percent or more of the Company s consohdated net sales during the last three ﬁscal

‘years. The Company had no matenal sales or1g1nat1ng or long lived assets held outside of the United States during the last
’ three fiscal years.

Export sales were $55 695,000 in fiscal 2004 $47 013 000'in fiscal 2003 and $51 061, OOO in fiscal 2002.
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NOTE 17. Commitments and Contingencies- -

Litigation - .
The Company is involved in various legal actions arising in the normal course of business. Based upon the Company’s

. and its legal counsel’s evaluanons_ of any claims or assessments, management is of the opinion that the outcome of these

matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial position.

In fiscal 2004, the Company incurred $410 000 of legal and ‘other costs related to litigation brought by a subsidiary of
the Electronic Technologies Group against two former employees and related parties for breach of contract and other pos-
sible causes of action agamst the former employees and others

_ Lease Commitments

The Company leases certain property and equipment, 1nc1ud1ng manufacturmg facrhtles and office equipment under
operating leases. Some of these leases provide the Company with the option after the initial lease term either to purchase
the property at the then fair market value or renew the lease at the then fair rental value. Generally, management expects
that leases will be renewed or replaced by other leases in the normal course of business.

Minimum payments for operatmg leases havmg initial or remaining non- cancelable terms in excess of one year are as
follows: '

Year ending October 31,

2005 ‘ R o , S j $1,960,000
2006 S ' .o ‘ ' 1,566,000
2007 : ' o o - © 950,000
2008 709,000
2009 : o \ A 593,000
Thereafter ' o ' , . : e 1,081,000

' S6,859,000

Total minimum lease commitments

Total rent expense charged to operations for operahng leases in fiscal 2004 fiscal 2003, and ﬁscal 2002 amounted to -
82,737,000, $2 768,000 and $2,956,000; respectively. ‘

Guarantees

The Company has arranged for standby letters of credit aggregating to $1.2 million to meet the security requirement of
its insurance company for potential workers’ compensation'claims These letters of credit are supported by the Company’s -

$120 million revolving credit fac1hty In addition, the Company s industrial development revenue bonds are secured by a $2.0

million letter of credit expiring April 2008 and a mortgage on the related properties pledged as collateral.

Changes in the Company’s product warranty liability for fiscal 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

Balance as of October 31, 2002

$685,000
Accruals for warranties . 147,000 -
Warranty claims settled - (199,000)
Balance as of October 31, 2003 -633,000
Change in estimate of warranty liability (635,000)
~ Accruals for warranties ' 345,000
Warranty claims settled (314,000)
Balance as of October 31, 2004 :SlZQ,OOOﬁ'

Based on an analysls of its hlstoncal claims cost expenence the Company reduced its estlmated warranty liability in the

first and fourth quarters of fiscal 2004.
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~ As partial consideration in the acquisition of Inertial Airline Services, Inc. (IAS) in August 2001, the Company issued $5

million in HEICO Class A Common Stock (318,960 shares) and guaranteed that the resale value of such Class A Common
Stock would be at least $5 ‘million through August 31, 2004. Concurrent with the acquisition, the Company loaned the seller
$5 million, which was due August 31, 2004 and secured by the 318,960 shares of HEICO Class A Common Stock. The loan
has been shown as a reduction of shareholders’ equity.in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets under the caption,
“Note Receivable Secured by Class A Common Stock.” In October 2003, the seller sold 220,000 shares of the HEICO Class
A Common Stock and the Company received the net proceeds of $2.1 million to reduce the note receivable. In the second
quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company. received the net proceeds of $1.2 million from the seller upon the sale of the remaining
98,960 shares of the HEICO Class A Common Stock. Pursuant to the Company’s guarantee that the aggregate resale value

" of the 318,960 shares of Class A Common Stock would be at least $5 million, the $1.7 million difference between the guaran-
teed value and the $3.3 million of aggregate net proceeds ($2.1 million received in October 2003 and $1.2 million received in

- the second quarter of 2004) from the sales of the Class A Common Stock has been recorded as a reduction of both capital in
excess of par value and the note receivable. '

- As part of the agreement to acquire an 80% mterest in Sierra in December 2003 (see Note 2, Acquisitions and Strategic
Alliances, of the Notes to Consohdated Financial Statements), the Company has the right to purchase the minority inter-
ests in approxunately ten years, or sooner under certain conditions, and the mmonty holders have the right to cause the
Company to purchase their interests commencing in apprommately five years, or sooner under certain conditions..

NOTE 18. Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Informatlon

Cash paid for interest was $1,099,000, $1,291,000 and $2,407,000 in fiscal 2004 2003, and 2002, respectively. Cash paid -
for income taxes was $2,688,000, $3,460,000 and $1,373,000 in fiscal 2004 2003, and 2002, respectively. Cash received from .
income tax refunds in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $72,000, $1,300,000 and $1,963,000, respecnvely

Cash investing activities related to acquisitions, including contingent payments for each of the three fiscal years ended
October 3l is as follows

2004 - 2003 ' 2002
Fair value of assets acquired: S - :

Liabilities assumed . .8 684,000 - S 698,000 -8 247,000

Less: n : o S " '
Goodwill - ‘ ) 24,974,000 © 1,023,000 ) 3,578,000
Inventories A : 707,000 431,000 371,000
Accounts receivable S . 1,785,000 312,000 - ' 351,000
Propei"ty, plant and equipment ‘ 1,311,000 ‘ — 408,000_ 258,000
Other assets 6,000 78,000 ' 204,000
__Cash paid, including contingent payments $ - (28,099,000 ©$ (1,554,000) $ (4,515,000)

In connection with the purchase of Sierra in December 2003 (see Note 2, Acquisitions and Strategic Alliances, of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements), the Company issued shares of HEICO’s Class A Common Stock valued at 83
million, which was allocated to goodwill. :

Retained earnings were reduced by.$29,393,000 in fiscal 2004 as a result of the 10% stock dividend described in Note 8,
Shareholders’ Equity - Stock Dividend, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

There were no significant capital lease 'ﬁnaﬁcing activities during fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003, and fiscal 2002.
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~ NOTE 19. Restaternent for Classification of Capitalized Tooling Costs

‘ In fiscal 2004, the Company began classifying capitalized tooling costs asa component of property, plant and equipment
in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet. In prior years, the Company classified capitalized tooling costs generally

as a component of other long-term assets (other assets) with a portion classified as a current asset (prepaid expenses and ~
other current assets). Upon review of this matter, the- Company determined that its prior method was not appropriate under
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Accordingly, the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheet as of October 31, 2003 and Consolidated Statéments of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended October 31,
2003 and 2002 have been restated as set forth below. The change in the balance sheet classification of capitalized tooling
costs had no effect on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operatlons Further, the total assets, total liabilities
and total shareholders’ equity amounts in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet as of October 31 2003 did not
change. A summary of the decrease in current assets and corresponding net increase in long-term assets in the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of October 31, 2003 follows: .

As Previously As
As of October 31. 2003, Reported Restated
Current assets; . , o ’ ‘
Prepaid expenses and other current assets S 6,231,000 $ - 3,003,000 .
Total current assets " 94,484,000 91,256,000 -
- Property, plant and equlpment net . 35,537,000 39,783,000
Other assets

14,523,000 13,505,000

Net cash provided by operating‘activiltries and net éash used in investing activities in the Compaﬁy’s Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows each increased by $985,000 for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2003, and each increased by
$3,009,000 for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2002, as a result of the change.in balance sheet classdicatlon of capitalized
toohng costs as follows: . ‘ .

For the year ended October 31, 2003 . 2002
" _ As Previously As As Previously - As
Reported " Restated Reported Restated
Operating Activities: ‘
Adjustments to reconcile. net mcome to cash-
provided by operating activities: ' ‘ I L . : -
‘Depreciation and amortization $ 5,081,000 ~$ 6,720,000 S 4,532,000 § 5,967,000
. Changes in assets and hablhtles, ‘ :
net of acquisitions: : : .
Decrease (increase)-in inventories 3,705,000 .3,705,000 (2,996,000) (3,996,000)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid B ) C v ,
expenses and other current assets 1,653,000 999,000 (2,967,000) *(393,000)
. Net cash provided by operating activities 27,879,000 28,864,000 - 23,285,000 26,294,000
Investing Activities: B
Capital expenditures- (3,771,000) (4,723,000) - (5,853,000) - " (8,338,000)
Other 118,000 85,000 (1,664,000 (2,188,000)
Net cash used in investing activities . (5,207,000) (6,192,000) (14,393,000)

(11,384,000)

NOTE 20. Subsequent Event (Unaudited)

In December 2004, the Company, through its HEICO Electronic Technologies Corp. subsidiary, acquired substan-
tially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Connectronics, Corp. and its affiliate, Wiremax, Ltd. (collectively
- “Connectronics”). The purchase price was not significant to the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The purchase
price was paid using proceeds from the Company’s revolving credit facility. Connectronics is engaged in the production of
specialty high voltage interconnection devices and wire primarily for defense applications and other markets.
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To the Board of Directors and
Shareholders of HEICO Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of HEICO Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”)
as of October 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, of shareholders’ equity and
comprehensive income, and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2004. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management Our responSIblhty is to express an opinion on these

ﬁnanc1a1 statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Pﬁblic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain r‘easonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts ,
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting prihciples used and significant
estimates made by management as well as evaluatmg the overall ﬁnanc1a1 statement presentation. We believe that our audits

provide a reasonable basis for our oplmon

In our opinion, such consolidated ﬁnancialistatements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as.of October 31, 2004 and 2003 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended October 31 2004 in conforrmty with accounting prmcmles generally accepted in the United States of
America. ’

As discussed in Note 19, the coﬁsoﬁdated balance sheet as of October 31, 2003 and the consolidated statements of cash
flows for the years ended October 31, 2003 and 2002 have been restated to reflect capitalized tooling costs as a component of

property, plant and equipment.

DELOI’ITE & TOUCHE LLP
" Certified Public Accountants

‘Fort Lauderdale, Florida
. January 14, 2005 .
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The Company’s Class A Common Stock and Common Stock are listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange
(NYSE) under the symbols “HELA” and “HE],” respectively. The following tables sets forth, for the periods indicated, the
high and low share prices for the Class A Common Stock and the Common Stock as reported on the NYSE, as well as the
amount of cash dividends paid per share during such periods. Lufthansa Technik AG, as a 20% shareholder of our Flight
Support Group, will be entitled to 20% of any dividends paid by our Flight Support Group with the balance payable to the

Company. - o

-

Class A Common Stock

Cash Dividends

12.06

High Low Per Share
Fiscal 2003: . : .
First Quarter ~ © , o S 864 $ 659 $ 023
Second Quarter ' , . ’ o 779 5.18 —
Third Quarter - o _ - 883 5.53 023
Fourth Quarter S ' 1143 7.10 —
Fiscal 2004: ’ ,
First Quarter S - - § 1440 $ 10.77 $ 025
Second Quarter . . 13.89 9.99 S
Third Quarter : 4 ‘ . 14.00 11.55 025
Fourth Quarter . L 1518 —

As of January 7, 2005, there were 1,045 holders of record of the Company’s Class A Common Stock.

Common Stock

Cash Dividends

High- Low Per Share

Fiscal 2003: ) A o .
First Quarter \ o $ 1109 ' $ 818 $ 023
Second Quarter , L 1011 © 6.68 —
Third Quarter 3 1158 6.75 023
Fourth Quarter : ‘ 14.30 9.16 —

Fiscal 2004: :

First Quarter . o ' $ 1845 § 1371 $ .025
" Second Quarter - ' v o 17.45 ' 12.90 —
Third Quarter . ' 18.45 1445 025
Fourth Quarter _ o o 19.70 16.00 -

Asof] anuary 7, 2005, there weré 982 holders of record of the Companjr’s Common Stock.

In addition, as of January 7, 2005 there were approximately 5,000 holders of the Company’s Class A Common Stock
and Common Stock who held their shares in brokerage or nominee accounts. The combined total of all record holders and

brokerage or nommee holders is approxunately 7,000 holders of both classes of common stock.
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In Memorium

Charles S. “Chuck” Eddy, the founder and President of HEICO’s Future Aviation, Inc. subsidiary, passed away
suddenly in May 2004. Following decorated service in the U.S. Army, Chuck started his career as an aircraft
and power plant mechanic and quickly grew to manage the operations of a major regional/commuter airline. In
1978, Chuck and Michele Eddy, his wife, established Future with little more than a dream. Their unusual talent
and dedication to quality turned Future into the leading accessory component repair and overhaul facility for the
commuter and regional markets. Chuck and Michele sold Future to HEICO in 2000, but Chuck continued to run
it and nurture it until he passed away. Chuck is survived by Michele and his wonderful daughters Lisa, Gena and

Jace. Through his family and Future Aviation, Chuck lives on.
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